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706 80 23,332 (2,652 )
21,182 2,408 2,150
244
b.
() 2020 1 1 2020 12 31
58,912 6,697 8,310
945 16.4 8,218 934 6,715
763 446.7 6,340 721
7,527 856
17 2020 12 31 240
M&A
10
1,072 122
6.7
937 106 16.8 685
78 12.2 34,055
3,871 34,637 3,938 11,828
1,345 7,866 894
2020 12 2019 12
2020 1 2020 12 31 2019 1 2019 12 31
16,965 1,929 15,893 1,807
6,499 739 5,563 632
6,297 716 5,613 638
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16 2 68 8
1,330 151 1,868 212
283 32 425 48
1,047 119 1,117 127
32,436 3,687 30,545 3,472
SOLIA ALOBABY
HALENA SINCE beaute
2018 12
HALENA ALOBABY
ALOBABY
4,590 522
15,995 1,818 11,405 1,297
625 71 799 91
2019 12
2020 7 2020
122
14 3,841 437
3,962 450 394 45
304 35
2019 10 SOMOS English Academy 2019 12 BreederONE 2020
F Treatment 2019 12
Go Food Service Pte. Ltd. 2020
Tonkotsu J-FOODS HONG KONG LIMITED
1,936 220
7,088 806 5,152
586 1,627 185 210
24
2020 1 J-FOODS HONG KONG LIMITED 1,590
181 F Treatment 381 43
828
94
(i) 2021 2021 30
35,668 4,055
7,346 835 259 4,503 512 1,209
137 36.7 2,797 318
661 75 309
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M&A
874
1,279 145
15.7
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2021 1 2021 30 2020 1 2020 30
9,480 1,078 8,606 978
4,427 503 3,147 358
2,711 308 2,342 266
1 0 15 2
953 108 638 73
145 16 184 21
371 42 465 53
18,088 2,056 15,398 1,750
SOLIA ALOBABY
HALENA AVBiQUE
2021 1
AVBiQUE 1,507 171
9,660 1,008
8,153 927 805 92
408 46
2020
2021
1,439 164
3,115 354 1,675 190
362 41 233 26
1,882 214
5,084
578 3,202 364 712
81 405 46
191 22
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1,533
8,013
52
2,794 318
2,029
111 13
4,940
7,398 841
(i) 2021
(125 ) 8,660 (985
2021
3,790
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2020 12 31
9,678
174
911 3,578
7,269 826
4,580 521
231 344
2,057 234
562 2,640
4,389 499
2021 30
)
4,126 (469
1,488 (169
2021
3,438 (391
(431 )
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2020
2021
2020 12 31
2021 30

32,436 18,088
106.2

3,687 2,056

26,476 17,580
132.0

3,010 1,998

15,947 9,603
140.8

1,813 1,092

3,839 3,115
97.0

436 354

6,690 4,862
140.3

760 553

58,912 35,668
116.4

6,697 4,055

10
SFRS IFRS
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14,703 1,671
) 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
12 12 12 12 12
9,418 13,253 20,911 30,545 32,436
(1,071) (1,507) (2,377) (3,472) (3,687)
13,329 16,500 19,472 20,057 26,476
(1,515) (1,876) (2,214) (2,280) (3,010)
5,789 7,684 8,992 11,330 15,947
(658) (874) (1,022) (1,288) (1,813)
1,758 1,980 3,462 3,958 3,839
(200) (225) (394) (450) (436)
5,781 6,835 7,018 4,769 6,690
(657) 777) (798) (542) (760)
2016 12 2018 12 YCP Holdings Limited
Y Asset Management Limited
2019 12 2020 12
2016 12 2018 12

2019 12 2020 12
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2019 2020
12 12
5,465 9,193
(621) (1,045)
30 2,284
3 (260)
908 438
( 103) (50)
181 237
(1) 27)
697 1,610
(79) (183)
2,938 3,278
( 334) ( 373)
2016 12 2018 12 2019 12 2020 12
2019 12 2020 12
YCP Holdings Limited Y Asset Management Limited YCP Holdings Limited
2021
161 2021
YCP Holdings Limited 15,881,275 2021

Y Asset Management Limited

i 2020 2020 12 31
2019 12 31 2020 12 31
2020 12 31

ii 2021 2021 30
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i 2020 2020 12 31
2019 12 31 2020 12 31
2020 12 31
ii 2021 2021 30
2019 12 31 2020 12 31
2020 12 31 2020 12 31
@
YCP Holdings Limited Y Asset Management Limited
2020 12 31
@
2020 12 31
- 84 802 - 885
cwB
- (10) 91) - (101)
J-FOODS HONG - 272 553 - 825
ST 44
KONG LIMITED _ @1 (63) _ (o)
Tonkotsu 8 - 55 335 - 389
- ) (38) - (44)
200 - 210 2 412
23 - 24) ) (47) i
YCP @) (
solidiance SOL1A 89 0 145 14 248
43
3 (10) ) an (@) (28)
39 31 253 3 326
22
“ “ (29) ) @37
YCP Solidiance 26 - 272 3 301 "
Limited ®) - (31) ) (34)
8 130 135 - 273
@ (15) (15) - (31)
13
4 97 81 86 2 267
(11) (©) (10) ) (30)
YCP Dining - 6 175 6 187
Singapore Pte 1
Ltd - (©)) (20) @) (21)

74/341



SOLIA

2021

2021

€Y)

@

30

75/341

EDINETOOOO
ODOo00oDOo0oDoooooo0boogOooo(esr220)
oOoooooooooood

YCP Solidiance



EDINETOOOO
ODOo00oDOo0oDoooooo0boogOooo(esr220)
oOoooooooooood

1
2021 11 18
2021 11 18
15,701,276
— 15,701,276 — —
15,668,813 YCP Holdings Limited Y Asset Management
Limited
¢)
2021 11 18
2021 . . 0 0
© ©
2021
7,141 7,141
15,881,275 |15,881,276 (812) (812)
2021
6 7,135
10 180,000 |15,701,276 ¢ 1 (811)
2021
162 6,973
10 20 32,462 115,668,814 ( 18) (793)
2021
162 7,135
11 15 32,462 115,701,276 (18) (811)

7,141,379.25
YCP Holdings

YCP Holdings Limited

YCP Holdings Limited

Limited

15,881,275

Y Asset Management Limited

Y Asset Management Limited

Y Asset Management Limited
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YCP Holdings Limited Y Asset Management Limited
2021

2018

7,005 7,505

10 11 467 5,467 (796) (853)
2019

7,505

12 13 16,395,533 |16,401,000 - (853)
2020

7,505

31 234,865 116,166,135 - (853)
2020

275 7,780

11 13 234,000 /16,400,135 1) (884)
2020

7,780

12 28 68,859 116,331,276 - (884)
2021

7,780

15 450,000 15,881,276 (884)

Solidiance Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd YCP Management Southeast Asia Pte. Ltd.
YCP Solidiance Pte.Ltd.
2019 12 13 1 3,000
1.18
YCP Holdings Limited Y Asset Management Limited Director
®3)
2021 11 18
- - - 1 19 20 -

- - -| 12,690,000 3,011,276 15,701,276 -

- - - 80.82 19.18 100.00 -
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®
2021 11 18
Iigii:; Management - " 12,690,000 80.82
1,320,000 8.41
456,965 2.91
436,989 2.78
150,000 0.96
120,000 0.76
95,000 0.61
95,000 0.61
90,000 0.57
61,000 0.39
— 15,514,954 98.81
Y Asset Management Limited 10 11
2021 11 18
¢ )
6,360,000 50.12
1,080,000 8.51
960,000 7.57
600,000 4.73
600,000 4.73
600,000 4.73
510,000 4.02
465,000 3.66
450,000 3.55
225,000 1.77
— 840,000 6.62
— 12,690,000 100.00
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@
25
2003
2006
2006
2007
2009
W Tokyo
2011
2011 YCP
Solidiance
2012
YCP Management Southeast
Asia Pte. Ltd. YCP
2013 -
Solidiance Pte. Ltd.
1982 Director
CEO 10 YCP Shanghai Inc. YCP -
2013 Solidiance Shanghai, Inc.
Director
YCP Holdings Limited Y
2013 11 |Asset Management Limited
Director
YCP Hong Kong Limited
2013 11 YCP Solidiance Limited
Director
Aoyama Sweets Factory
2014 Thailand Co., Ltd.
Director
YCP Solidiance Co., Ltd.
2015 i
Director
Naturali Hong Kong Limited
2015 i g fong
Director
YCP Education Limited
2017 _
Director
2017 11 ATOMS
2018 ARUKI
YCP Solidiance
2018
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N O Life
2019 SOLIA
2019
YCP Dining Singapore Pte.
2019 _ g gap
Ltd. Director
Go Food Service Pte. Ltd.
2019 _
Director
2020
YCP RLA Trading
2020
YCP Solidiance Limited
2021 _
Director
YCP Holdings(Global)Limited
2021 Director CEO

84/341



EDINETOOOO
ODOo00oDOo0oDoooooo0boogOooo(esr220)

Ooooooooooooo
1990
1994
1990 10 Hewlett Packard Co., Limited
1992 Xerox Engineering Systenms,
Inc
1995 A.T. Kearney
1997 C. Melchers Consulting GmbH
Head of Greater China
2000 Chase.com, The Chase Manhattan
Bank Vice President
2000 11 [McKinsey & Co
2002 Master AII!ance Co., Ltd.
Managing Director
2006 Booz Allen Hamilton
KPMG Transactions Services
2014 o
Limited
2015 D!gltaura Advisory Co., Ltd.
Director
Chong Kin Group Holdings
2016 Ltd. Independent Non-
Executive Director
YCP Hong Kong Limited YCP
1968 2016 12 Solidiance Limited 5 000
12 2018 Tam Jai International Co. ’
Limited Director
2018 10 UMEOX Innovations Co., Ltd.
Director
Principal Lecturer: HKU SPACE
2018 11 InsFltute for Chln? Business
Senior Programme Director
YCP Holdings Limited Y
2019 Asset Management Limited
Director
Cyberport Entrepreneurship
2019 Centre Advisory Group
member
Entrepreneurial Leaders
2020 Institute, Wycliffe Hall,
University of Oxford Advisor
Chartered Management
2020 Institute Board Member
2020 H?xon Green Capital Limited
Director
Association of Family Offices
2020 in Asia Board Advisor
YCP Holdi Global) Limited
2021 C oldings (Global) Limite
Director
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1979
1981
Morgan Guaranty Trust New
1981 York J. P. Morgan Chase
& Co.
Alexandra Department Store
1986 Strategic Planning Manager
Russell Reynolds, Hong Kon
1986 Y g g

Managing Director

1996 Bo Le Associates Ltd.

Bo Le Yau Cai Management
Ltd. Director

2008 10 |[Bo Le Leaders Ltd.

Giving Hand Ltd. Director

1998 10

2009
1957
Bo Le Associates Ltd. 10,000
21 2009 -
Director
Global Sage Ltd. Director
2011 12
Global Sage Japan
2011 12
Global Sage Ltd. US
2011 12 )
Director
Global Sage Ltd. UK
2011 12 _
Director
Global Sage Pte Ltd.
2016 Singapore Director
Sage Executive Sdn Bhd
2018 ] -
Malaysia Director
YCP Holdings Limited Y
2019 Asset Management Limited
Director
YCP Holdings (Global)
2021 Limited Director
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1998
2006
1998
2000
2001 12
2006
2006 10
2011
2013
2013
(60]0)
1976 2016
10,000
17

2018

AIA Group Limited Group CDO
2018
2020 KLKTN Limited
2020

Tiger Gate Capital Limited
2020 .

Director

YCP Holdings Limited Y
2020 Asset Management Limited

Director

YCP Solidiance

2020

INFORICH
2020

Spiral Capital
2020
2021

YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2021 .

Director
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2011 YCP
YCP Solidiance 2013
YCP Holdings Limited Y Asset Management Limited CEO
2021 CEO
2018 11 YCP Hong Kong Limited YCP Solidiance Limited

McKinsey & Co A.T.
Kearney Booz Allen Hamilton C. Melchers Consulting GmbH

Bo Le
Associates Ltd. 1996
550
Russell Reynolds Associates Morgan
Guaranty Trust Company of New York
MBA
2008
2019 AlA
MBA
2021 2021 12
2021 2022 12
C00
CFO
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YCP Holdings Limited Y Asset Management Limited

12

12 12
12 12

2020 24
2020 30

CEO CEO
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2019 12 31 2020 12 31
YCP Holdings Limited Y Asset Management Limited
))
90 - 90 -
10 ) (10) )
- - 37 -
) ) 4) &)
90 - 127 -
10 ) as )
Ernst & Young a.
))
702 - 706 -
(80) (&) (80) )
11 - 11 -
(€)) ) @ (&)
713 - 717 -
(81) ) (82) )
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a.
YCP Holdings Limited Y Asset Management Limited
2020 12 31
2020 22
2019 24 2019 29 2020
24 2021
a
658 162 496 - )
(75) (18) (56) (&)
53 53 - - 3
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YCP Holdings Limited Y Asset Management Limited 2020 30
b
c
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2021 12
12
SFRS 1 IFRS
38 59
40 321
32 12



2021

134

IFRS

113.68

1

32

2021

93

2021 10 29

132

12 )

133
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2020 2019
5 58,912,373 6,697 50,602,013 5,752
16,005,688 1,820 13,842,241 1,574
42,906,685 4,878 36,759,772 4,179
5 3,121,617 355 1,766,705 201
8,648,403 983 7,830,238 890
28,848,004 3,279 27,566,503 3,134
313,568 36 1,626,392 185
8,218,327 934 1,503,344 171
7 2,443 0 5,087 1
8 732,305 83 1,124,916 128
219,476 25 77,470 9
6 7,268,989 826 460,985 52
10 968,981 110 1,682,735 191
( ) 6,300,008 716 1,221,750 139
6,339,589 721 1,186,967 135
39,581 4 34,783 4
6,300,008 716 1,221,750 139
1 « )
( /) 11 38.89 44.22 7.24 8.23
( /) 11 38.89 44.22 7.24 8.23
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

C )
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2020 2019
( ) 6,300,008 716 1,221,750 139
72,117 8 161,403 18
22,197 3 6,704 1
49,920 6 168,107 19
30 5,062 1 - -
54,982 6 168,107 19
( ) 6,245,026 710 1,053,643 120
6,279,516 714 1,018,545 116
34,490 4 35,098 4

6,245,026 710 1,053,643 120
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2020 2019 2019 1 1
12 1,409,912 160 636,408 72 967,450 110
12 4,764,215 542 4,753,622 540 5,148,403 585
13 11,758,830 1,337 10,305,073 1,171 10,318,699 1,173
14 1,545,886 176 1,999,225 227 2,184,318 248
16 283,117 32 527,200 60 534,721 61
15 - - - - - -
17 9,954,946 1,132 8,599,580 978 7,384,366 839
25 - - - - 1,184,474 135
20 1,170,597 133 870,495 99 988,661 112
29 1,237,353 141 559,497 64 1,104,827 126
32,124,856 3,652 28,251,100 3,212 29,815,919 3,389
18 1,960,856 223 1,080,836 123 1,313,467 149
19 6,964,543 792 6,692,593 761 5,272,440 599
19 698,571 79 - - - -
20 2,837,030 323 2,132,904 242 1,778,020 202
25 - - 1,117,217 127 925,701 105
21 9,906,705 1,126 8,494,881 966 7,811,675 888
22,367,705 2,543 19,518,431 2,219 17,101,303 1,944
22 2,012,490 229 1,654,769 188 1,491,761 170
23 9,213,771 1,047 9,042,807 1,028 7,219,977 821
24 5,198,955 591 6,444,150 733 3,110,550 354
26 4,072,753 463 4,785,717 544 5,436,557 618
27 3,066,861 349 2,755,423 313 2,908,561 331
28 - - 301,232 34 - -
1,500,060 171 680,907 77 1,784,718 203
25,064,890 2,849 25,665,005 2,918 21,952,124 2,496
2,697,185 307 6,146,574 699 4,850,821 551
29,427,671 3,345 22,104,526 2,513 24,965,098 2,838
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2020 2019 2019 1 1
23 664,467 76 390,273 44 537,108 61
24 921,321 105 - - 2,913,300 331
26 10,630,251 1,208 10,691,074 1,215 9,333,582 1,061
27 1,797,991 204 2,075,252 236 2,336,561 266
29 251,349 29 393,636 45 346,883 39
30 100,992 11 - - - -
14,366,371 1,633 13,550,235 1,540 15,467,434 1,758
15,061,300 1,712 8,554,291 972 9,497,664 1,080
31 14,987,118 1,704 8,445,619 960 9,478,685 1,078
14,987,118 1,704 8,445,619 960 9,478,685 1,078
74,182 8 108,672 12 18,979 2
15,061,300 1,712 8,554,291 972 9,497,664 1,080
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2019 12 31 2020 12 31
( )
YCP Holdings
Limited
2019 1 1 500,000 240,516 8,738,169 9,478,685 18,979 9,497,664
( ) (57) (27) (993) (1,078) 2 (1,080)
- - 1,186,967 1,186,967 34,783 1,221,750
- - ( 135) ( 135) ( 4 ( 139)
- 161,718 - 161,718 315 161,403
- (18) - (18) ( 0 (18)
- 6,704 - 6,704 - 6,704
- o) - 1) - (1)
- 168,422 1,186,967 1,018,545 35,098 1,053,643
- (19) ( 135) ( 116) ( 4 ( 120)
- 1,366 13,155 14,521 18,979 33,500
- (0 (1 (2 (2 (4
- - - - 143,770 143,770
- - - - (16) (16)
2019 12 31 500,000 407,572 7,538,047 8,445,619 108,672 8,554,291
(57) (46) (857) (960) (12) (972)
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2019 12 31 2020 12 31
( )
YCP Holdings
Limited
020 1 1 500,000 407,572 7,538,047 - —~ 8445619 108,672 8,554,291
(57) (46) (857) - - (960) (12) (972)
- - 6,339,589 - - 6,339,589 39,581 6,300,008
- - (721) - - (721) ( 4 (716)
- - 77,208 - - - 77,208 5,001 72,117
- (9 - - - (9 1) (8
- 22,197 - - - 22,197 - 22,197
- (3) - - - 3) - (3)
20 - - - - 5062 5,062 - 5,062
_ - - - (1 (1 - (1)
- 55,011 6,339,589 - 5062 6279516 34,490 6,245,026
- ( 6) (721) - (1 (714) ( 4 (710)
a1y 30871 - - - - 30,871 - 30,871
€9 - - - - (9 - ( 4
YCP Holdings Limited ., 275,375 - - - - 275,375 - 275,375
(31) - - - - (31) - (31)
- - - - 17,479 - 17,479 - 17,479
_ - - @) - 2 - @
020 12 31 744504 352,561 13,877,636 17,479 5062 14,987,118 74,182 15,061,300
(85) (40)  (1578) @ (2 (1,670) ®  (L679)
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2020 2019
7,268,989 826 460,985 52
7 2,443 0 5,087 1
6 827,976 94 1,128,624 128
6 18,769 2 100,193 11
6 - — 1,093,151 124
6 466,537 53 509,841 58
6 1,590,312 181 - -
27 791,495 90 - -
6 726,365 83 381,898 43
6 4,580,241 521 2,794,323 318
6 284,817 32 306,529 35
6 59,486 7 - -
6 4,111 0 168,665 19
6 31,828 4 24,117 3
( ) 6 31,142 4 2,716 0
6 - - 58,013 7
( ) 6 40,202 5 220,019 25
( ) 6 76,064 9 - -
6 16,369 2 24,630 3
( ) 6 63,538 7 - -
8 732,305 83 1,124,916 128
( ) 219,476 25 77,470 9
30 92,379 11 - -
32 17,479 2 - —
10,404,571 1,183 4,838,747 550
19,800 2 433,715 49
790,024 90 242,087 28
131,816 15 1,870,050 213
46,949 5 433,263 49
455,338 52 2,225,152 253
301,232 34 301,232 34
8,962,644 1,019 5,736,716 652
950,032 108 2,158,321 245

8,012,612 911 3,578,395 407
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Oo00000000000
YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
C )
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2020 2019
2,443 0 5,087 1
46,804 5 91,695 10
12 566,505 64 274,222 31
14 60,493 7 184,647 21
33 2,056,897 234 110,990 13
- - 29,487 3
34 601,411 68 247,596 28
21 4,537 1 147,987 17
/C )
2,028,700 231 343,981 39
- - 143,770 16
24 1,170,000 133 - -
- - 33,500 4
2,936,156 334 8,147,317 926
4,388,736 499 7,398,010 841
3,796,142 432 2,795,276 318
147,840 17 113,785 13
31 344,305 39 - -
369,026 42 590,831 67
4,939,893 562 2,640,315 300
1,044,019 119 594,099 68
8,145,175 926 7,453,208 847
489,146 56 97,868 11
9,678,340 1,100 8,145,175 926
21 9,763,255 1,110 8,346,894 949
26 84,915 10 201,719 23

9,678,340 1,100 8,145,175 926
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
1.
11
Y CP Holdings (Global) Limited( ) 2021
Y CP Holdings Limited
( 11
02)
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
12
YCP 29,800,000 - 100%
Solidiance.
YCP Solidiance 918,000 - 100%
Limited (2019
400,000 )
YCP Solidiance 400,000 - 100%
(Shanghai)

Limited ( )
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2020 12 31 2019 12 31
()
1.
1.1 ( )
YCP Solidiance 638,469 100% -
Pte. Ltd.
YCP Solidiance, 5,000,000 — 100%
Co., Ltd
YCP Solidiance 1,000UAE - 100%
FZ LLC
YCP Solidiance 200,000 - 100%
Limited
SOLIA 10,000,000 100% -
( N&O Life)
YCP 30,000,000 100% -
Lifemate
55,000,000 - 100%
3,000,000 - 100%
(2019 :
( )
)
20,000,000 - 100%
YCP Education 130,000 100% -
Singapore Pte.
Ltd.
YCP Dining 672,060 100% -
Singapore Pte.
Ltd.
Go Food Service 450,000 100% -
Pte. Ltd. (

Go Food )#
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
()
1.
11 ( )
J-Foods Hong 10,000 100% -
Kong Limited (2019 (2019
( J-Foods ) ) )
Aoyama Sweets 300,000 100% -
Factory Limited
Aoyama Sweets 5,000,000 - 100%
Factory (Thailand)
Co., Ltd.
YCP RLA 35,000,000 55% -
Trading
# Go Food
Go Food
J-Foods 100
60 553,083 189 1,825,736
33
Y CP Education Limited YCP Solidiance Pty. Ltd
F-Treatment 3,000 387 140,945
/388 44.4 428,904 20
193,200
34

SOMOS English Academy Ltd. YCP

Shanghai Inc. Rainbow Bird, Inc. Technomic Asia (Shanghai) Inc.
Breeder One 33.75 (308,080 )
( /16 ) 5,000 5 (45,641 ) 10 (91,282

) 34
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0000000000000
YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
1 C )
1.2
( ) YCP
Holdings Limited
2021
( 25) ( 24) ( 32)
Y CP Holdings Limited
€)] 2021
Y CP Holdings Limited
(b) 2021 Y CP Holdings Limited
(i) ( 25 ( 24
( 32) Y CP Holdings Limited
(i)YCP Holdings Limited
7,141,379 15,881,275
Y CP Holdings Limited
2.
2.1
SFR(1)
( IFRS ) SFRS(l) IFRS
2019 12 31 SFRS(1)

IFRS SFRS(I)  IFRS
2.2
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2 C )
2.1 ( )
2020 12 31 2,697,185 (2019 :6,146,574
)
1.2(b) 2021
24 6,120,276
2019 6,444,150
2.2 IFRS
2020 12 31 IFRS
2019 12 31
( GAAP)
2020 12 31
IFRS
IFRS 2019
GAAP 2019
IFRS IFRS
2019 IFRS
IFRS
IFRS
GAAP
IFRS IFRS
IFRS IFRS
GAAP
IFRS IFRS GAAP
(
) IFRS IFRS

2019
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2 « )
2.2 IFRS ( )
IFRS
IAS 21
2019 2019
2019
2019
IFRS
12
2019 IFRS 16
¢ )
5,148,403
(73,134)
14,873
5,245,122
(84,217)

(70,763)
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2 C )
2.2 IFRS ( )
IFRS 16 -
2020
IFRS 16
2019 2019 12 31 GAAP
( )

2019 (IFRS ) 2019 12 31 IFRS

23

IFRS 9 IAS 39 IFRS 7 IFRS 4

IFRS 16 : - ( ) 2021
IFRS 3 : ( ) 2022
IAS 16 : ( ) 2022
IAS 37 : ( ) 2022
IFRS (2018 -2020 ) 2022
IAS 1 ( ) 2023
IFRS 17 ( ) 2023
IAS 1 IFRS 2 ( ) 2023
IAS 8 ( ) 2023
IFRS 10 IAS 28
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2 C )
2.4
2.1 2021
Y CP Holdings Limited
Y CP Holdings Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31 Y CP Holdings

Limited

Y CP Holdings Limited

YCP Holdings Limited

Y CP Holdings Limited
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2 « )
2.4 ( )

« )

12 31
( )

2.5

113/341



EDINETOOOO
ODOo00oDOo0oDoooooo0boogOooo(esr220)

0o0o000ooooood
YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2 C )
2.6
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2 ()
2.7 ( )

20%
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2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2 (
2.7

2.8
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2 C )
2.9

20%
10% 33%

20% 33%
16% 50%
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2 C )
2.10

(10 )

(10

118/341



EDINETOOOO
ODOo00oDOo0oDoooooo0boogOooo(esr220)

0o0o000ooooood
YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2 « )
2.10 ( )

(10 )
211

( )
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2 « )
2.12
(a)
0) ( )
(ii) (FVOCI)
FVOCI

FVOCI
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2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2 « )
2.12 ()
(a) « )
( )
(iii)

FVOCI

(b)
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2 C )
2.12 ()

(b) « )
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2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2 C )
2.13
12
(12 )

90
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2 « )
2.13 ( )
« )
- 12

2.14
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2 C )
2.14 ( )

(@)

10

211

(b)
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
e C )
2.14 ( )

« )

(©)
(
12 )

2.15

2.16

129/341



EDINETOOOO
ODOo00oDOo0oDoooooo0boogOooo(esr220)

0o0o000ooooood
YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2020 12 31 2019 12 31

2 C )
2.17

2.18

2.19
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2 C )
2.20

IFRS 15

(@) -
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2 « )
2.20 ( )

(b) -

(i)
(if)

()

(d)

()

(f)

(9) -
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
e C )
2.21
( )
2.22
(@)
( MPF )
MPF
MPF
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2 « )
2.22 ( )
(b)
2003 13
(
)
2.23
(
)
( )
32
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2 C )
2.23 ()

2.24

(@)
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2 C )
2.24 ( )

(b)
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2 « )
2.24 ( )

(b) « )

(©)

(
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2 C )
2.25
(@)
1

(b)
(i)

(ii)
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2 C )
2.26
CEO

CEO
3.
31
3.2

2020 12 31 11,758,830 (2019 :10,305,073

) 13
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
3 C )
3.2 ( )
2020 12 31
1,409,912 (2019 : 636,408 ) 4,764,215 (2019 : 4,753,622
) 12
2020 12 31
3,087,189 (2019 :4,525,691 ) 29
( )
(
)
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
3 « )
3.2 ( )
(
)

( GDP)

19

(@)

(b)
()
(d)
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2020 12 31 2019 12 31

2020

32,436,346 15,946,922 3,839,344 6,689,761 58,912,373
1,618,339 47,664 1,187 398,333 2,065,523

34,054,685 15,994,586 3,840,531 7,088,094 60,977,896

(2,065,523)

58,912,373
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2020 12 31 2019 12 31

2020 ()

11,828,266 625,005 393,678 1,627,220 14,474,169

«C ) 40,202 - - - 40,202

( ) - - - (76,064) (76,064)
( ) - - - (16,369) (16,369)
( ) - - - (63,538) (63,538)
- (59,486) - - (59,486)

(2,366,437)  (60,213) (241,183) (2,638,773) (5,306,606)

(202,113)  (52,510) (3,362) (26,832)  (284,817)

(7,023) - 749 2,163 (4,111)

(16,943)  (14,885) - - (31,828)

- - - 827,976 827,976
27,097 38 1,571 2,436 31,142

- - - 1,590,312 1,590,312

4 - 85,133 381,400 466,537
(92,379) - - - (92,379)
(17,479) - - - (17,479)

9,193,195 437,949 236,586 1,609,931 11,477,661
18,769
(3,278,103)

8,218,327

2,443
(732,305)
(219,476)

7,268,989
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2020 12 31 2019 12 31

2020 ()

26,060,508 4,314,366 6,141,630 15,309,071 51,825,575

(280,857)
283,117
2,664,726

54,492,561

17,428,867 4,170,134 4,965,811 4,169,403 30,734,215

6,120,276
(280,857)
2,857,627

39,431,261

267,644 20,029 8,074 1,350,874 1,646,621
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
4 « )
2019
30,545,433 11,329,517 3,957,835 4,769,228 50,602,013
4,091,507 75,504 4,585 383,192 4,554,788
34,636,940 11,405,021 3,962,420 5,152,420 55,156,801
(4,554,788)
50,602,013
7,866,449 (798,729) 304,045 209,872 7,581,637
( ) - - - (58,013) (58,013)
(133,152) - (11,616) (75,251)  (220,019)
( ) - - - (24,630) (24,630)
(1,999,247) (59,118)  (196,338) (921,518) (3,176,221)
(205,221) (50,037) (4,346) (46,925)  (306,529)
- - - 1,128,624 1,128,624
(64,191) - 89,331 484,701 509,841
5,464,638 (907,884) 181,076 696,860 5,434,690
(1,093,151)
100,193
(2,938,388)
1,503,344
5,087
(1,124,916)
77,470
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2020 12 31 2019 12 31

2019 ()

25,388,708 3,244,432 4,251,578 11,748,233 44,632,951

(154,477)

527,200
1,117,217
1,646,640

47,769,531

19,797,554 3,501,562 2,739,239 2,208,189 28,246,544

6,444,150
(154,477)
4,679,023

39,215,240

181,356 63,934 79,818 133,761 458,869
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
4, (
(a)
2020 2019
37,220,689 31,792,399
9,485,139 5,708,869
9,531,422 9,623,424
1,046,873 1,116,933
282,930 424,563
1,329,768 1,868,195
15,552 67,630
58,912,373 50,602,013
(b)
2020 2019
6,272,121 5,819,287
3,132,630 1,208,352
10,338,766 11,132,008
18,443 55,922
- 5,959
19,761,960 18,221,528
10 (2019 : )
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2020 12 31 2019 12 31

(@)

2020 12 31

18,811,206 - - — 18,811,206
13,625,140 - - — 13,625,140
— 15,946,922 - — 15,946,922
- - 3,839,344 - 3,839,344
- - - 6,475,730 6,475,730
- - - 15,204 15,204
- - - 198,827 198,827

32,436,346 15,946,922 3,839,344 6,689,761 58,912,373

16,964,808 15,852,405 3,839,344 564,132 37,220,689

6,297,208 4,672 - 3,183,259 9,485,139
6,499,207 89,845 - 2,942,370 9,531,422
1,046,873 - - - 1,046,873
282,930 - - - 282,930
1,329,768 - - - 1,329,768
15,552 - - - 15,552

32,436,346 15,946,922 3,839,344 6,689,761 58,912,373

26,184,805 - 3,839,344 15,204 30,039,353

6,251,541 15,946,922 - 6,674,557 28,873,020

32,436,346 15,946,922 3,839,344 6,689,761 58,912,373
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
5 C )
C )
(a) C )
2019 12 31
21,968,957 - - — 21,968,957
8,576,476 - - - 8,576,476
- 11,329,517 - - 11,329,517
- - 3,957,835 - 3,957,835
- - - 3,853,715 3,853,715
- - - 628,066 628,066
- - — 287,447 287,447
30,545,433 11,329,517 3,957,835 4,769,228 50,602,013
15,892,772 11,218,350 3,957,835 723,442 31,792,399
5,612,686 - - 96,183 5,708,869
5,562,654 111,167 — 3,949,603 9,623,424
1,116,933 - - - 1,116,933
424,563 - - - 424,563
1,868,195 - - - 1,868,195
67,630 - - - 67,630
30,545,433 11,329,517 3,957,835 4,769,228 50,602,013
21,968,957 - 3,957,835 915,513 26,842,305
8,576,476 11,329,517 - 3,853,715 23,759,708
30,545,433 11,329,517 3,957,835 4,769,228 50,602,013
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
5 ()
C )
(a) ()
2020 2019
365,871 108,912
(b)
30

30

30
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
5 ()
C )
(b) « )
2020 12 31 ( )
698,571
- 1
2020 12 31
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2020 12 31 2019 12 31
S ( )
2020 2019
827,976 1,128,624
(25 18,769 100,193
(33 1,590,312 -
(34 466,537 509,841
# 218,023 -

- 28,047

3,121,617 1,766,705
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
6 C )
C )
2020 2019
( ) 6,627,142 4,745,749
( ) 3,011,229 3,134,057
( Q)
21,283,497 19,913,834
1,685,575 1,680,480
(30 92,379 -
( 32 17,479 -
23,078,930 21,594,314
( 12) 726,365 381,898
( 12) 4,580,241 2,794,323
5,306,606 3,176,221
1,027,656 779,325
263,090 373,199
133,516 35,081
4,111 168,665
(31,142) 2,716
31,828 24,117
( ) ( 13) - 58,013
( ) ( 12) 76,064 -
( Y( 14) 16,369 24,630
( ) ( 12) 63,538 -
59,486 -
( ) ( 14) 284,817 306,529
C 19) (40,202) 220,019
( 33) (1,590,312) -
( 34 (466,537) (509,841)
(827,976) (1,128,624)
( 25) (18,769) (100,193)
(  25a) - 1,093,151
(2019 :5,962,435 ) 16,711,613 (2019 : 15,631,879 )
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
7.
2020 2019
2,443 5,087
8.
2020 2019
( ) 369,026 590,831
( ) ( 27) 147,840 113,785
( ) ( 24) 215,439 420,300
732,305 1,124,916
9.
2020 2019
81,068 33,974
625,140 254,113
94 -
706,302 288,087
10.
2020 2019
- 1,749,665 1,059,682
- (14,138) (9,005)
- (766,546) 632,058
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2020 12 31 2019 12 31

EDINETOOOO
ODOo00oDOo0oDoooooo0boogOooo(esr220)
oOoooooooooood

10. ( )

Y CP Holdings Limited

2,000,000
8.25 2,000,000

(

(257,921

:35

2020 2019
% %

7,268,989 460,985

1,199,383 16.5
626,728 8.8

76,063  16.5
204,069 443

(593,273) (8.3) (270,347) (58.6)

36,883 0.5 470,456 102.1
(14,138) (0.2)  (9,005) (2.0)
36,214 05 (12,783) (2.8)

(225,551) (3.2) - -
(369,862) (5.2) - -
221,610 3.1 1,063,667 230.7
96,210 1.4 176,281 382
(45,223) (0.6) (15,666) (3.4)

968,981 13.3 1,682,735 365.0

(2019 : 57,020 )

YCP Holdings Limited

165 (2019 :165 )

)(2019 :2,000,000
16.5

(256,869 )

17 )
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0000000000000
YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
11. I(
I( ) YCP Holdings Limited ( )
16,299,296 (2019 : 16,401,000 )
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
Ic )
2020 2019
/C_ )
/C )
YCP Holdings Limited /( ) 6,339,589 (1,186,967)
2020 2019

16,299,296 16,401,000
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Oo00000000000
YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
12.
2020 12 31
2019 12 31
2020 1
1
521,460 1,593,891 132,259 64,371 2,311,981 10,491,418 191,432 53,106 10,735,956 13,047,937
(232,465) (1,321,826) (56,911) (64,371)  (1,675,573) (5,800,269) (145,387) (36,678) (5,982,334) (7,657,907)
288,995 272,065 75,348 - 636,408 4,691,149 46,045 16,428 4,753,622 5,390,030
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
12. ( )
2020 12 31
(G
2020 1 1
288,995 272,065 75,348 - 636,408 4,691,149 46,045 16,428 4,753,622 5,390,030
380,109 163,163 23,233 - 566,505 3,580,255 14,191 51,116 3,645,562 4,212,067
( 33) 487,507 529,381 - 1,937 1,018,825 1,709,093 60,896 - 1,769,989 2,788,814
(5,008) 1,443 (546) - (4,111) - - - - (4,111)
- - - - - (800,927)  (26,201)  (3,787) (830,915)  (830,915)
(39 (3,343)  (13,230) - - (16,573) - - - - (16,573)
(392,189)  (301,703)  (32,147) (326) (726,365)  (4,540,756)  (29,995)  (9,490)  (4,580,241) (5,306,606)
(807)  (74,158)  (1,099) - (76,064) (63,538) - - (63,538)  (139,602)
7,723 2,841 733 (10) 11,287 68,318 886 532 69,736 81,023
2020 12 31
762,987 579,802 65,522 1,601 1,409,912 4,643,594 65,822 54,799 4,764,215 6,174,127
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
12. ( )
2020 12
31 (
)
2020 12
31
1,379,918 2,200,490 153,847 66,308 3,800,563 13,786,641 239,559 79,433 14,105,633 17,906,196

(616,931) (1,620,688) (88,325) (64,707)  (2,390,651)  (9,143,047) (173,737) (24,634) (9,341,418) (11,732,069)

762,987 579,802 65,522 1,601 1,409,912 4,643,594 65,822 54,799 4,764,215 6,174,127
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
12. ( )
2019 12 31
2018 12 31
2019 1 1
594,181 1,506,518 88,728 110,401 2,299,828 4,969,278 151,145 27,980 5,148,403 7,448,231
(162,303) (1,063,199) (41,937)  (64,939) (1,332,378) - - - - (1,332,378)
431,878 443,319 46,791 45,462 967,450 4,969,278 151,145 27,980 5,148,403 6,115,853
2019 1 1
431,878 443,319 46,791 45,462 967,450 4,969,278 151,145 27,980 5,148,403 6,115,853
64,635 151,372 58,215 - 274,222 2,653,846 - - 2,653,846 2,928,068
(35,804) (72,031) (14,800)  (46,030) (168,665) - - - - (168,665)
- - - - - (42,338) - - (42,338) (42,338)
(
34) (67,081) (10,097) (644) - (77,822) (140,409)  (73,134)  (2,624)  (216,167)  (293,989)
(109,169)  (246,088)  (26,641) - (381,898)  (2,753,244)  (32,110)  (8,969) (2,794,323) (3,176,221)
4,536 5,590 12,427 568 23,121 4,016 144 41 4,201 27,322
2019 12 31
288,995 272,065 75,348 - 636,408 4,691,149 46,045 16,428 4,753,622 5,390,030

165/341
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2020 12 31 2019 12 31
12. (
2019 12
31 ()
2019 12
31
521,460 1,593,891 132,259 64,371 2,311,981 10,491,418 191,432 53,106 10,735,956 13,047,937
(232,465) (1,321,826) (56,911) (64,371)  (1,675573) (5,800,269) (145,387) (36,678) (5,982,334) (7,657,907)
288,995 272,065 75,348 - 636,408

4,691,149 46,045 16,428 4,753,622 5,390,030
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
12. ( )
2020 12 31
12% (2019 : 12%)
0% (2019 : 0%)
76,064 (2019
) 63,538 (2019 : )
13.
2020 2019
11
10,363,086 10,639,927
(58,013) (321,228)
10,305,073 10,318,699
11 10,305,073 10,318,699
(33 1,565,988 110,990
( 6 - (58,013)
( 34 - (208,532)
(112,231) 141,929
12 31 11,758,830 10,305,073
12 31
11,758,830 10,363,086
— (58,013)
11,758,830 10,305,073
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
13. ( )
129%6(2019 :12 )
%(2019 )
2018
15%
%
(2019
)
15%(2019 :15%)
%(2019 : %)
% % (2019 : % %)
(2019
)

15%  18%(2019 :15%  18%)
% %(2019 : % %)
%  10% (2019
%  10%)
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2020 12 31 2019 12 31
13, ( )
()
(¢ )
5.819%(2019 :5.58%) 19.05%(2019 :13.63%)
2020 12 31
3,144,780 (2019 :2,790,346 )
2019
15%
%

2020 12 31 113,022 — 3,007,598 8,638,210 — 11,758,830

2019 12 31 110,990 - 1,362,259 8,831,824 - 10,305,073

2019 1 31 - 205,975 1,345,554 8,709,868 57,302 10,318,699

2019 12 31
58,013
15%
2020 12 31
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
13. ( )
C )
14,
2020 2019 2019 1 1
16,381 15,479 15,289
1,529,505 1,983,746 2,169,029
1,545,886 1,999,225 2,184,318
2020 2019
15,479 15,289
902 190
16,381 15,479
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2020 12 31 2019 12 31
14. ( )
2020 12 31
2020 1 1

172,063 24,056 452,914 2,114,492 2,763,525
(100,978) (24,056) (238,930)  (415,815)  (779,779)
71,085 - 213984 1,698,677 1,983,746

2020 1 1
71,085 - 213984 1,698,677 1,983,746
18,595 - 41,898 - 60,493
(33 - - 798 - 798
(14,556) - (17,272) - (31,828)
(  34)  (48,300) - (93,858) - (142,158)
(11,370) - (87,234)  (186,213)  (284,817)
(1,511) - (14,858) - (16,369)
2,885 - 8,208 (51,453)  (40,360)
2020 12 31 16,828 - 51,666 1,461,011 1,529,505

2020 12 31
108,299 - 185958 2,114,492 2,408,749
(91,471) - (134,292)  (653,481)  (879,244)

16,828 51,666 1,461,011 1,529,505
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2020 12 31 2019 12 31
14. ( )
2019 12 31
2019 1 1
24,056 279,367 2,114,492 2,658,584
(24,056)  (120,322)  (249,925)  (489,555)
- 159,045 1,864,567 2,169,029
2019 1 1
- 159,045 1,864,567 2,169,029
- 184,647 - 184,647
- (1,068) - (53,604)
(34 - (13,501) - (13,501)
- (92,924)  (190,520)  (306,529)
- (24,630) - (24,630)
- 2,415 24,630 28,334
2019 12 31 - 213984 1,698,677 1,983,746
2019 12 31
24,056 452914 2,114,492 2,763,525
(24,056)  (238,930)  (415,815)  (779,779)
- 213984 1,698,677 1,983,746
16,369 (2019 : 24,630
16,369 : 24,630 )
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Oo00000000000
YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
15.
2020 2019 2019 1 1
)
50.0
( )
146,655 (2019 : 523,337 ) 810,995 (2019 : 957,650 )
16.
2020 2019 2019 1 1
« ) (63,356) 199,798 211,334
346,473 327,402 323,387
283,117 527,200 534,721
)
ARUKI 25.0
ARUKI
BARC 25.0
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
16. ( )
2020 2019 2019 1 1
(219,476) 77,470 66,636
22,197 6,704 8,286
(197,279) 84,174 74,922
283,117 527,200 534,721
17.
2020 2019 2019 1 1
9,954,946 8,599,580 7,384,366
2020 12 31
38
2020 12 31 9,954,946 (2019
:8,599,580 ) 26
18.
2020 2019 2019 1 1
200,468 123,203 34,239

1,760,388 957,633 1,279,228

1,960,856 1,080,836 1,313,467
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2020 12 31 2019 12 31
19.
2020 2019 2019 1 1
7.060,380 6,838,143 5285859
(95,837)  (145,550) (13,419)
6,964,543 6,692,593 5272440
# 698,571 - -
7663114 6,692,593 5272440
#

2020
12 31 2020 12 31
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Oo00000000000
YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
19. ( )
2020 2019 2019 1 1
145,550 13,419 9,691
¢ H)(C 9 104,897
(40,202) 220,019
(9,511) (87,888) (101,169)
95,837 145,550 13,419
( )
(
)
2020 12 31
0.13% 0.21% 1.52% 28.29% 1.36%
( ) 5,336,258 1,074,949 363,991 285,182 7,060,380
( ) 7,118 2,247 5,515 80,957 95,837
2019 12 31
0.04% 0.04% 8.00% 52.49% 2.13%
( ) 5,597,507 842,640 147,748 250,248 6,838,143

( ) 2,008 375 11,817 131,350 145,550

176/341



EDINETOOOO
ODOo00oDOo0oDoooooo0boogOooo(esr220)

Oo00000000000
YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
19. ( )
2019 1 1
0.06% 0.17% 0.61% 5.35% 0.25%
( ) 4,262,821 764,866 84,742 171,430 5,285,859
( ) 2,445 1,282 517 9,175 13,419
20.
2020 2019 2019 1 1
1,012,243 493,079 476,097
2,995,384 2,510,320 2,290,584
4,007,627 3,003,399 2,766,681
(1,170,597)  (870,495) (988,661)
2,837,030 2,132,904 1,778,020
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
21.
2020 2019 2019 1 1
9,763,255 8,346,894 7,811,675
143,450 147,987 —
9,906,705 8,494,881 7,811,675
( a) (143,450)  (147,987) -
9,763,255 8,346,894 7,811,675
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
21. ( )
(@) 2020 12 31 143,450 (2019 : 147,987 )
(26
525,353
(2019 : 319,962
22.
2020 2019 2019 1 1
2,012,490 1,654,769 1,491,761
30
23.

(@)

2020 2019 2019 1 1

7,563 365,871 108,912
4,206,704 4,878,809 4,202,081
5,084,329 3,806,609 3,109,765

579,642 381,791 445,239

9,878,238 9,433,080 7,757,085
(664,467)  (390,273) (537,108)

9,213,771 9,042,807 7,219,977
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
23. ( )
()
(b)
(©)
12 31
2020 2019
381,791 445,239
179,112 -
(14) (8,972)
— (60,242)
18,753 5,766

12 31 579,642 381,791
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Oo00000000000
YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
24,
2020 2019 2019 1 1
( a) 5,198,955 6,444,150 6,023,850
( b 921,321 - -
6,120,276 6,444,150 6,023,850
(921,321) - (2,913,300)
5,198,955 6,444,150 3,110,550
(@) ( 25) YCPHoldings Limited
Y CP Holdings
Limited
2020 2019
6,444,150 6,023,850
(  31b) (1,105,125) -
( 31b) (344,295) -
( 8) 204,225 420,300

2020 12 31 5,198,955 6,444,150
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Oo00000000000
YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
24, ( )
C
(b) 2020 11 13 Y CP Holdings Limited
Y CP Holdings Limited
234,000 2020 11 13
Y CP Holdings Limited
894,625
2020
1,170,000
(275,375)
894,625
( 8 11,214
15,482
2020 12 31 921,321
25.
2018 10 11 ( ) YCP Holdings Limited (
) 100 ( )
Y CP Holdings Limited ( )467
( 1,401,000 ) Y CP Holdings Limited
(i)
Y CP Holdings Limited 0.0003
(if)

Y CP Holdings Limited

Y CP Holdings Limited
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
25. ( )
90 0.0003 233
90 0.0003 234
( ) 5 233
( ) 5 467
90 5 1
90 5 2
: 233 Y CP Holdings Limited

. 467 Y CP Holdings Limited
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0000000000000
YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 3 2019 12 31
25. ( )
2020 2019
1,117,217 2,110,175
(  31b) (1,135,986) -
( a) - (1,093,151)
18,769 100,193
- 1,117,217
18,769 (2019 :100,193 )
(@ 2019 12 31 Y CP Holdings Limited
( ) @
YCP Holdings Limited 78
(b) YCP
Holdings Limited 389
389
(©
( 31 )
3,000

(d) YCP Holdings Limited
Y CP Holdings Limited

1,093,151

2020 12 31
(2019 :78) 366(2019 :389)
Y CP Holdings Limited
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Oo00000000000
YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
26.
2019 1 1
C D)%) 2020 C D®%) 2019 C D®)
5.0-6.5 84,915 5.0-6.5 201,719 9.5 358,467

05-25 2021 3,504,840 0.7-25 2020 2,758,348 0.7-25 2019 1,602,705

6.0 2021 482,998 6.0 2020 1,825,650 6.0-7.0 2019 3,475,385

4,072,753 4,785,717 5,436,557

2023 -
05-25 2030 9,664,254 0.7-25 2025 9,321,836 0.7-2.5 2025 4,358,197

6.0 2023 965,997 6.0 2023 1,369,238 6.0-7.0 2023 4,975,385

10,630,251 10,691,074 9,333,582

14,703,004 15,476,791 14,770,139
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
26. ( )
0.5 6.5 (2019 :0.7% 6.5%)
2021 2030 (2019 :2020 2025 )
(@) 5,100,464 (2019 :6,024,646 )
9,954,946 (2019 : 8,599,580 )( 17)

(b) 2,779,984 (2019 :3,194,888 )

(9 9,423,796 (2019 :3,194,888 )

(d) 84,915 (2019 : 201,719 )

143,450 (2019 : 147,987 ) ( 21)

35
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
217.
2020 2019 2019 1 1

3,131,106 3,066,861 2,834,391 2,755,423 3,021,846 2,908,561
1,604,344 1,568,994 2,093,030 2,057,045 2,451,564 2,336,561
236,343 228,997 18,257 18,207 - -

4,971,793 4,864,852 4,945,678 4,830,675 5,473,410 5,245,122

(106,941) (115,003) (228,288)
4,864,852 4,830,675 5,245,122
(3,066,861) (2,755,423) (2,908,561)

1,797,991 2,075,252 2,336,561
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
27. ( )
2020 12 31
2020 2019
4,830,675 5,245,122
3,645,562 2,653,846
( 33 1,769,989 -
(862,057) (39,622)
( 34 - (221,340)
147,840 113,785
(3,943,982) (2,909,061)
(791,495) -
68,320 (12,055)
12 31 4,864,852 4,830,675
2020 2019
( 8 147,840 113,785
( 6 4,580,241 2,794,323
( 6 263,090 373,199
( 6 (31,142) 2,716
(791,495) -
63,538 -
4,232,072 3,284,023
2020 4,207,072
(2019 :3,282,260 ) 2020
3,645,562 (2019 :2,653,846 )
2.2 IFRS 16
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Oo00000000000
YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
28.
29.
2019 1 1 19,049 316,976 1,045,727 47,031 1,428,783
(34 (2,402) - (26,791) (2,935)  (32,128)
( 10) 7,038 (32,388)  (171,370) 59,665  (137,055)
196 4,187 4,261 317 8,961
2019 12 31
2020 1 1
23,881 288,775 851,827 104,078 1,268,561
( 33 - - - 24,185 24,185
(  10) (22,131) (31,657) (314,557)  (38,506) (406,851)
552 (8,747) 39,602 4,831 36,238
2020 12 31

2,302 248,371 576,872 94,588 922,133
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2020 12 31 2019 12 31
29. ( )
2019 1 1 - 384,169 741,958 1,060,600 2,186,727
(10 -~ (200,463) (387,342) (181,308) (769,113)
- 5,009 10,994 805 16,808
2019 12 31
2020 1 1
- 188,715 365,610 880,097 1,434,422
(33 - - 20,061 - 20,061
(10 20,323 313,506 360,959  (335,093) 359,695
(30 1,428 - - - 1,428
467 20,050 32,299 39,715 92,531
2020 12 31

22,218 522,271 778,929 584,719 1,908,137

2020 2019 2019 1 1

1,237,353 559,497 1,104,827

(251,349)  (393,636) (346,883)

986,004 165,861 757,944
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2020 12 31 2019 12 31
29, ( )
C )
2020 2019 2019 1 1
3,087,189 4,525,691 1,947,044
2,002,057 (2019 : 2,375,285 )
10 1,085,132
(2019 : 2,150,406 )
30.
2003 13
PT Sigma Prima Solusindo
2020
2020 -
87,972
4,407
. (24,367)
- 30,857
2,123
2020 12 31

100,992
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2020 12 31 2019 12 31

30. ( )

2020

87,972
4,407

92,379
29 (20,323)

72,056

)

] (24,367)
- 30,857
29 (1,428)

5,062

2020
(%) 7.04

() 56
(%) 10
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Oo00000000000
YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
30. ( )
2020

I( ) ¢ )

%

1/(1) (18,663)/23,467

1/(1) 22,533/(18,363)
31.

YCP Holdings Limited
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0000000000000
YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
31.
()
2020 2019 2019 1 1
16,331,276
(2019 :16,401,000 ) 744,504 500,000 500,000
YCP Holdings Limited
2019 5,467 500,000
( @ 16,395,533 -
2019 12 31 16,401,000 500,000
2020 1 1
( b (303,724) (30,871)
( © 234,000 275,375
2020 16,331,276 744,504
(@ 2019 12 13 Y CP Holdings Limited
3,000 ( )
(b) 2020 Y CP Holdings Limited
234,865
78.2 (10 )
10
1,135,986 1,105,125
2020 12 28
Y CP Holdings Limited 68,859
344,295
(c) 2020 11 13 Y CP Holdings Limited ( 24 )
234,000
Y CP Holdings Limited
1,170,000 894,625 275,375
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32.

Y CP Holdings Limited

2020 10 Y CP Holdings Limited
(
(i)
(if)
2020 - -
5.00 938,904
2020 12 31 5.00 938,904
2020 12 31
734,108
0.78 ) 2020 12 31 17,479

(%)
(%)
(%)
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
32, ( )
Y CP Holdings Limited 938,804
Y CP Holdings
Limited 938,804 4,694,020 ( )
2021
55,465
33.
2020 31 ()
100% (i)
189 ( 1,825,736 )
2020 31 Y CP Holdings Limited (i)
J-Foods 100% (i)
J-Foods
60 ( 553,038 )

1,590,312

2019 12 Y CP Holdings Limited

150,000 (110,990 )
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
33. )
2020
J-Food
12 325,541 693,284 1,018,825
14 690 108 798
29 20,061 - 20,061
12 254,340 1,515,649 1,769,989
63,786 16,936 80,722
153,039 1,516,184 1,669,223
48,158 72,204 120,362
48,452 273,470 321,922
27 (254,340) (1,515,649) (1,769,989)
(172,997) (134,668) (307,665)
(202,797) (294,123) (496,920)
29 (24,185) - (24,185)
259,748 2,143,395 2,403,143
5 - (1,590,312) (1,590,312)
13 1,565,988 - 1,565,988
1,825,736 553,083 2,378,819
(1,825,736) (553,083) (2,378,819)
48,452 273,470 321,922
(1,777,284) (279,613) (2,056,897)
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
33, (
2019
Go-Food
13 110,990
110,990
(110,990)
2020 12 31 JFoods
3,171,262 751,473
587,008 113,622 J-Foods
2020 2020 12 31
60,775,719 6,280,076
Go-Food 152,525 9,667 Go-
Food 2019 2019 12 31

52,279,788 1,328,087
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2020 12 31 2019 12 31
34.
2020 2019
12 16,573 77,822
12 - 216,167
13 - 208,532
14 142,158 13,501
27,849 794
25,464 268,962
72,617 223,445
21,084 202,407
(10,732) (290,731)
(62,935) (639,649)
(58,539) (68,013)
(17,581) (19,607)
29 - (32,128)
27 - (221,340)
155,958 (59,838)
5,6 466,537 509,841
622,495 450,003
2020 2019
622,495 450,003
(21,084)  (202,407)
601,411 247,596
35.

(@)

3,645,562 (2019 :2,653,846 ) 3,645,562 (2019 :2,653,846 )
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
35. )
(b)
( )
2019 5,245,122 14,411,672
(2,795,276) 749,307
2,653,846 -
(39,622) -
34) (221,340) (68,013)
113,785 -
(113,785) -
(12,055) 182,106
2019 12 31 2020 4,830,675 15,275,072
(3,796,142) (1,452,580)
3,645,562 -
1,769,989 -
(862,057) -
34) - (58,539)
147,840 -
(147,840) -
(791,495) -
68,320 854,136
2020 12 31 4,864,852 14,618,089
(©)
2020 2019
263,090 373,199
3,943,982 2,909,061
4,207,072 3,282,260
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
36.
(@) 2020 11 13 Y CP Holdings Limited
125,000 25,000
2019 YCP Holdings Limited YCP Holdings Limited
Y CP Shanghai Inc. Rainbow Bird Inc. (
) 251,000
(b)
2019 12 31
28

(©)

37.

2020 2019

2,918,640 2,751,533
2,170 -

2,920,810 2,751,533

2020 2019

- 1,117,217
9,954,946 8,599,580

6,964,543 6,692,593
2,995,384 2,510,320
9,906,705 8,494,881

29,821,578 27,414,591
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2020 12 31 2019 12 31
37 ( )
2020 2019
2,012,490 1,654,769
4,831,610 5,543,879
14,703,004 15,476,791
4,864,852 4,830,675
- 301,232
6,120,276 6,444,150
32,532,232 34,251,496
38,
1- ( )
2 _
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2020 12 31 2019 12 31

38, ( )

2020 12 31

2020 12 31

9,954,946 - — 9,954,946
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2020 12 31 2019 12 31
38. ( )
C )
2019 12 31
( ) ) ( )
8,599,580 - — 8,599,580
- - 1,117,217 1,117,217
8,599,580 - 1,117,217 9,716,797
( )
( )
2019 12 31

4.77 5%

« )
55,861

/ (55,861 )
«( )
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2020 12 31 2019 12 31
38. ( )
(2019 )
(2019 )
25
( 2)
( )
2020 12 31 10,630,251 11,087,456 11,087,456
2019 12 31 10,691,074 11,247,476 11,247,476
2019 1 1 9,333,582 9,771,525 9,771,525
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2020 12 31 2019 12 31
39.
26
100
147,030 (2019 : 154,768
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2020 12 31 2019 12 31
39. ( )
C )
2020 12 31
12
1 2 3
2020 12 31
* - - - 7,060,380 7,060,380
* - - - 698,571 698,571
- o 2,995,384 - - — 2,995,384
9,906,705 - - — 9,906,705

12,902,089 - - 7,758,951 20,661,040
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2020 12 31 2019 12 31
39. ( )
12
1 2 3
2019 12 31
* - - - 6,838,143 6,838,143
- 2,510,320 - - - 2,510,320
8,494,881 - - — 8,494,881
11,005,201 - - 6,838,143 17,843,344
19

**

19
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
39. ( )
( )
1
1 5 5
2020
- 2,012,490 - - 2,012,490
— 4,831,610 - — 4,831,610
( ) 84,915 4,305,903 9,856,994 1,230,462 15,478,274
- 3,131,106 1,840,687 — 4,971,793
— 5,198,955 921,321 - 6,120,276
84,915 19,480,064 12,619,002 1,230,462 33,414,443
1
1 5 5
2019
— 1,654,769 - — 1,654,769
— 5,535,397 8,482 — 5,543,879
- 301,232 — — 301,232
( ) 201,719 4,892,108 11,125,916 121,560 16,341,303
- 2,834,391 2,093,030 18,257 4,945,678
- 6,444,150 - - 6,444,150

201,719 21,662,047 13,227,428 139,817 35,231,011
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2020 12 31 2019 12 31

39. ( )

2020 12 31 17

2020 / 2019 /

27,444 27,603/16,358 23,657 24,066/19,562
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2020 12 31 2019 12 31
39. ( )
C )
2020
( 17) 9,954,946 497,747
2019
( 17) 8,599,580 429,979
40.
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
2020 2019
14,987,118 8,445,619
14,987,118 8,445,619
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

2020 12 31 2019 12 31

41.

(a)
50 16
(154,085 ) 2020 12
50

32,461
292,480
49,920
48,530
13,934
89,482
(49,920)
(4,237)
(215,996)
(1,897,146)

(1,640,492)
1,794,577

154,085
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(b)

2021 10 19
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
Combined Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the financial years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020
Note 2020 2019
uUss$ uUss$
REVENUE 5 58,912,373 50,602,013
Cost of sales (16,005,688) (13,842,241)
Gross profit 42,906,685 36,759,772
Other income and gains 5 3,121,617 1,766,705
Selling and distribution expenses (8,648,403) (7,830,238)
Administrative expenses (28,848,004) (27,566,503)
Other operating expenses (313,568) (1,626,392)
OPERATING PROFIT 8,218,327 1,503,344
Finance income 7 2,443 5,087
Finance costs 8 (732,305) (1,124,916)
Share of profits and losses of associates (219,476) 77,470
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6 7,268,989 460,985
Income tax expense 10 (968,981) (1,682,735)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 6,300,008  (1,221,750)
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent 6,339,589  (1,186,967)
Non-controlling interests (39,581) (34,783)

6,300,008  (1,221,750)

Earnings/(Loss) per share attributable to ordinary equity

holders of parent
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (cents) 11 38.89 (7.24)
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (cents) 11 38.89 (7.24)
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
Combined Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (continued)
For the financial years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020
Note 2020 2019
uUss$ uUss
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 6,300,008  (1,221,750)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to profit
or loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of financial statements (72,117) 161,403
Share of other comprehensive income of associates 22,197 6,704
Net other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to
profit or loss in subsequent periods (49,920) 168,107
Other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Remeasurement loss on defined benefit liabilities, net of tax 30 (5,062) -
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE
YEAR, NET OF TAX (54,982) 168,107
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 6,245,026  (1,053,643)
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent 6,279,516  (1,018,545)
Non-controlling interests (34,490) (35,098)

6,245,026  (1,053,643)
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
Combined Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2019 and 2020
1 January
Note 2020 2019 2019
US$ US$ US$
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 12 1,409,912 636,408 967,450
Right-of-use assets 12 4,764,215 4,753,622 5,148,403
Goodwill 13 11,758,830 10,305,073 10,318,699
Other intangible assets 14 1,545,886 1,999,225 2,184,318
Investments in associates 16 283,117 527,200 534,721
Investment in a joint venture 15 - - -
Equity investment at fair value through profit or
loss 17 9,954,946 8,599,580 7,384,366
Derivative financial instruments 25 — — 1,184,474
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 20 1,170,597 870,495 988,661
Deferred tax assets 29 1,237,353 559,497 1,104,827
Total non-current assets 32,124,856 28,251,100 29,815,919
CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 18 1,960,856 1,080,836 1,313,467
Trade receivables 19 6,964,543 6,692,593 5,272,440
Contract assets 19 698,571 - -
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 20 2,837,030 2,132,904 1,778,020
Derivative financial instruments 25 - 1,117,217 925,701
Cash and bank balances 21 9,906,705 8,494,881 7,811,675
Total current assets 22,367,705 19,518,431 17,101,303
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables 22 2,012,490 1,654,769 1,491,761
Other payables and accruals 23 9,213,771 9,042,807 7,219,977
Other liabilities 24 5,198,955 6,444,150 3,110,550
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 26 4,072,753 4,785,717 5,436,557
Lease liabilities 27 3,066,861 2,755,423 2,908,561
Due to a director 28 - 301,232 -
Tax payable 1,500,060 680,907 1,784,718
Total current liabilities 25,064,890 25,665,005 21,952,124
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES (2,697,185) (6,146,574) (4,850,821)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 29,427,671 22,104,526 24,965,098
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
Combined Statement of Financial Position (continued)
As at 31 December 2019 and 2020
1 January
Note 2020 2019 2019
Uss$ Uss$ Uss$
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables and accruals 23 664,467 390,273 537,108
Other liabilities 24 921,321 - 2,913,300
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 26 10,630,251 10,691,074 9,333,582
Lease liabilities 27 1,797,991 2,075,252 2,336,561
Deferred tax liabilities 29 251,349 393,636 346,883
Defined benefit liabilities 30 100,992 - -
Total non-current liabilities 14,366,371 13,550,235 15,467,434
NET ASSETS 15,061,300 8,554,291 9,497,664
EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Reserves 31 14,987,118 8,445,619 9,478,685
14,987,118 8,445,619 9,478,685
Non-controlling interests 74,182 108,672 18,979
TOTAL EQUITY 15,061,300 8,554,291 9,497,664
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
Combined Statement of Changes in Equity
For the financial years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020
Attributable to owners of the parent
Total equity
attributable
to owners
Exchange of the YCP Non-
Capital fluctuation Retained Holdings  controlling
reserve reserve profits Limited interest  Total equity
Uss Uss Uss Uss USss$ USs$
At 1 January 2019 (restated) 500,000 240,516 8,738,169 9,478,685 18,979 9,497,664

Loss for the year - (1,186,967) (1,186,967) (34,783) (1,221,750)
Other comprehensive income/(loss)

for the year:
Exchange differences on

translation of financial statements - 161,718 - 161,718 (315) 161,403
Share of other comprehensive
income of associates - 6,704 - 6,704 - 6,704

Total comprehensive loss for the
year - 168,422 (1,186,967) (1,018,545) (35,098) (1,053,643)

Acquisition of a non-controlling

interest - (1,366) (13,155) (14,521) (18,979) (33,500)
Capital contribution from non-
controlling shareholders - - - - 143,770 143,770

At 31 December 2019 500,000 407,572 7,538,047 8,445,619 108,672 8,554,291
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
Combined Statement of Changes in Equity (continued)
For the financial years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020
Attributable to owners of the parent
Total
equity
attributable
to owners
Exchange Share Defined of YCP Non-
Capital fluctuation Retained option benefit Holdings controlling Total
Note reserve reserve profits reserve reserve Limited interest equity
uUss Us$ USss$ uUss Uss$ Uss$ Uss$ Uss$
At 1 January 2020 500,000 407,572 7,538,047 — — 8,445,619 108,672 8,554,291
Profit for the year - - 6,339,589 - - 6,339,589  (39,581) 6,300,008
Other

comprehensive
income/(loss) for

the year:
Exchange
differences on
translation of
financial
statements - (77,208) - -
Share of other
comprehensive
income of
associates - 22,197 - -
Remeasurement
loss on defined
benéefit liabilities,
net of tax 30 - - -

(77,208) 5,091 (72,117)

22,197 - 22,197

(5,062) (5,062) - (5,062)

Total
comprehensive
income for the
year - (55,011) 6,339,589

(5,062) 6,279,516  (34,490) 6,245,026

Repurchase of the

Company’s

shares 31b (30,871) - - - - (30,871)
Issue of YCP

Holdings Limited’

s shares 31lc 275,375 - - - - 275,375
Equity-settled share

option

arrangements 32 - - - 17,479 — 17,479

(30,871)

275,375

17,479

At 31 December 2020 744,504 352,561 13,877,636 17,479 (5,062) 14,987,118 74,182 15,061,300
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
Combined Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019
Note 2020 2019
uss$ uss$
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax 7,268,989 460,985
Adjustments for:
Bank interest income 7 (2,443) (5,087)
Fair value gain on an equity investment at fair value through
profit or loss 6 (827,976) (1,128,624)
Fair value gain on derivative financial instruments 6 (18,769) (100,193)
Loss on derecognition of derivative financial instruments 6 - 1,093,151
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries and businesses 6 (466,537) (509,841)
Gain on bargain purchase 6 (1,590,312) -
Covid-19-related rent concessions from lessors 27 (791,495) -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 6 726,365 381,898
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 6 4,580,241 2,794,323
Amortisation of other intangible assets 6 284,817 306,529
Write-off of inventories 6 59,486 -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 6 4,111 168,665
Loss on disposal of other intangible assets 6 31,828 24,117
(Gain)/loss on termination of leases 6 (31,142) 2,716
Impairment of goodwill 6 - 58,013
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment of trade receivables 6 (40,202) 220,019
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 6 76,064 -
Impairment of other intangible assets 6 16,369 24,630
Impairment of right-of-use assets 6 63,538 -
Finance costs 8 732,305 1,124,916
Share of losses/(profits) of associates, net 219,476 (77,470)
Defined benefit expenses 30 92,379 -
Equity-settled share option expenses 32 17,479 -
Operating cash inflows before changes in working capital 10,404,571 4,838,747
Changes in working capital:
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables 19,800 (433,715)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (790,024) 242,087
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables 131,816  (1,870,050)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables (46,949) 433,263
(Decrease)/increase in other payables and accruals (455,338) 2,225,152
(Decrease)/increase in an amount due to a director (301,232) 301,232
Cash flows generated from operations 8,962,644 5,736,716
Income tax paid (950,032) (2,158,321)
Net cash flows from operating activities 8,012,612 3,578,395
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
Combined Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019
Note 2020 2019
uUss$ uUss
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 2,443 5,087
Dividend received from an associate 46,804 91,695
Purchases of property, plant and equipment 12 (566,505) (274,222)
Purchases of other intangible assets 14 (60,493) (184,647)
Acquisitions of subsidiaries and a business 33 (2,056,897) (110,990)
Proceed from disposal of other intangible assets - 29,487
Proceed from disposal of subsidiaries and businesses 34 601,411 247,596
Decrease/(increase) in pledged time deposits 21 4,537 (147,987)
Net cash flows used in investing activities (2,028,700) (343,981)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Contribution from non-controlling shareholders - 143,770
Proceeds from issuance of shares 24 1,170,000 -
Acquisition of a non-controlling interest - (33,500)
New interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 2,936,156 8,147,317
Repayment of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (4,388,736) (7,398,010)
Principal portion of lease payments (3,796,142) (2,795,276)
Interest on lease liabilities (147,840) (113,785)
Repurchase of shares 31 (344,305) -
Interest paid (369,026) (590,831)
Net cash flows used in financing activities (4,939,893) (2,640,315)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,044,019 594,099
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 8,145,175 7,453,208
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 489,146 97,868
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 9,678,340 8,145,175
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents 21 9,763,255 8,346,894
Bank overdrafts 26 (84,915) (201,719)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the combined
statement of cash flows 9,678,340 8,145,175
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1.

11

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND GROUP REORGANISATION

Corporate information

YCP Holdings (Global) Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated as a limited liability company domiciled in
Singapore on 5 March 2021.

The registered office of the Company is located at 5 Temasek Boulevard, #11-02, Suntec Tower Five,
Singapore, 038985. In the opinion of the directors, the Company’'s immediate and ultimate holding
company is YCP Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Company are those of investment holding and provision of management
services to group companies.

The Company’s subsidiaries were involved in the following principal activities:

provision of management and advisory services;

development, production and sale of natural and organic products;

operation of veterinary hospital and pet care business;

operation of restaurants and franchise system in the food and beverage industry;
production, sale and distribution of food products;

trading and manufacturing of Japanese-style desserts and confectionary products;
provision of Japanese-style early education services; and

trading of fertility check-up kit and provision of related internet marketing service.

The Company was incorporated for the purpose of acquiring the existing operating group of subsidiaries as
detailed below, pursuant to the Reorganisation Exercise as disclosed in Note 1.2.

Particulars of principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of Issued Percentage of
incorporation/ ordinary/ equity attributable
registration and registered to the Company
Name operations share capital Direct Indirect  Principal activities
YCP Solidiance, Japan JPY 29,800,000 - 100 Provision of
Inc. management and
advisory services
YCP Solidiance Hong Kong US$918,000 - 100  Provision of
Limited (2019: management and
US$400,000) advisory services
YCP Solidiance The People's Renminbi - 100  Provision of
(Shanghai) Republic of  (“RMB”) 400,000 management and
Limited China ("PRC")/ advisory services
Mainland

China
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1 CORPORATE INFORMATION AND GROUP REORGANISATION (continued)

11 Corporate information (continued)

Place of Issued Percentage of equity
incorporation/ ordinary/ attributable to the
registration and registered Company

Name operations share capital Direct Indirect Principal activities

YCP Solidiance Singapore SGD638,469 100 - Provision of

Pte. Ltd. management and
advisory services

YCP Solidiance, Thailand Baht5,000,000 - 100  Provision of

Co., Ld management and
advisory services

YCP Solidiance United Arab Arab Emirate - 100  Provision of

FZ LLC Emirates Dirham (“AED”) management and

1,000 advisory services

YCP Solidiance  United States of US$200,000 - 100  Provision of

Limited America management and
advisory services

SOLIA, Inc. Japan JPY10,000,000 100 - Development,

(formerly known production and sale of

as "N&O Life, natural and organic

Inc."”) products

YCP Lifemate, Japan JPY30,000,000 100 - Operation of

Inc. veterinary hospital and
pet care business

Lifemate Japan JPY15,000,000 - 100  Operation of

Veterinary veterinary hospital

Hospital Group,

Inc.

Ecoro Guard Japan JPY3,000,000 - 100  Operation of

Limited (2019: Nil) veterinary hospital

(“Ecoroguard”)

Koinu Step Inc. Japan JPY20,000,000 - 100  Operation of pet care
business

YCP Education Singapore SGD130,000 100 - Provision of

Singapore Pte. Japanese-style

Ltd.

YCP Dining Singapore SGD672,060 100 - Operation of

Singapore Pte. restaurants and

Ltd. franchise system in
the food and beverage
industry

Go Food Service Singapore SGD450,000 100 - Production, sale and

Pte. Ltd. ("Go distribution of food

Food")# products
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION AND GROUP REORGANISATION (continued)
11 Corporate information (continued)
Place of Percentage of
incorporation/ Issued equity attributable
registration ordinary/ to the Company
and registered
Name operations share capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
J-Foods Hong Hong Kong HK$100,000 100 - Operation of
Kong Limited (2019: Nil) (2019: Nil) restaurants and
("J-Foods") franchise system in
the food and beverage
industry
Aoyama Sweets Hong Kong US$300,000 100 - Investment holding
Factory Limited
Aoyama Sweets Thailand Baht5,000,000 - 100  Trading and
Factory (Thailand) manufacturing of
Co., Ltd. Japanese-style
desserts
YCP RLA Trading Japan JPY35,000,000 55 - Trading and
Inc. production of

Japanese-style
confectionery products

# The Group entered into several agreements with the non-controlling shareholder to obtain present access to
entire returns of Go Food. Accordingly, in the opinion of the directors, Go Food is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2020, the Group acquired 100% equity interest in J-Foods
and Ecoroguard with considerations in the form of cash amounted to JPY60,000,000 (equivalent to
US$553,083) and JPY189,000,000 (equivalent to US$1,825,736), respectively. Further details of the
acquisitions are included in Note 33 to the financial statements.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2020, the Group disposed of YCP Education Limited, YCP
Solidiance Pty. Ltd., F-Treatment, Inc. and a pet care hospital, at considerations of HK$3,000 (equivalent
to US$387), SGD5 (equivalent to US$4), JPY44,400,000 (equivalent to US$428,904) and JPY20,000,000
(equivalent to US$193,200), respectively. Further details of the disposals are included in Note 34 to the
financial statements.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2019, the Group disposed of SOMOS English Academy Ltd.,
YCP Shanghai Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Rainbow Bird, Inc., Technomic Asia (Shanghai) Inc.,
BreederOne Inc. and a pet care hospital, at considerations of JPY33,750,000 (equivalent to US$308,080),
RMB1 (equivalent to US$-), US$5,000, JPY5,000,000 (equivalent to US$45,641) and JPY10,000,000
(equivalent to US$91,282), respectively. Further details of the disposals are included in Note 34 to the
financial statements.
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1 CORPORATE INFORMATION AND GROUP REORGANISATION (continued)

1.2 The Reorganisation Exercise

Prior to the incorporation of the Company and the completion of the reorganisation exercise (the
“Reorganisation Exercise”), the operating activities of the Group were carried out by YCP Holdings Limited
and its subsidiaries.

As part of the Reorganisation Exercise, the Company was incorporated in Singapore on 5 March 2021.
Following the incorporation of the Company, all assets and liabilities including group management service
business and its subsidiaries owned by YCP Holdings Limited, except for the derivative financial
instruments (Note 25), other liabilities (Note 24) and employee share options (Note 32), were transferred to
the Company. The objective of the Reorganisation Exercise was to establish the Company as the holding
company of the subsidiaries now comprising the Group, in preparation for the proposed listing of the
Company’'s shares on the Mothers Board of the Tokyo Stock Exchange. The major steps of the
Reorganisation Exercise involved the following:

(@ Onb5 March 2021, the Company was incorporated as a public company limited by shares domiciled
in Singapore with SGD1 share capital issue and allotted to YCP Holdings Limited.

(b) On 1 April 2021, the Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement with YCP Holdings
Limited in relation to the acquisition of:

(i) the entire assets and liabilities including the group management service business owned by
YCP Holdings Limited, except for the derivative financial instruments (Note 25), other liabilities
(Note 24) and employee share options (Note 32); and

(i) the entire share ownership of the subsidiaries, joint venture and associates owned by YCP
Holdings Limited.

In consideration for the transfer of the above assets and liabilities, 15,881,275 shares with a total

value of US$7,141,379 were allotted by the Company to YCP Holdings Limited. As a result, the
Company became the holding company of the subsidiaries now comprising the Group.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of accounting and preparation

The combined financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting
Standards (International) ("SFRS(I)") and International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). SFRS(I)
comprise standards and interpretations that are equivalent to IFRS.

These combined financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 are the first the Group has
prepared in accordance with SRFS(I) and IFRS. Refer to Note 2.2 for information on how the Group
adopted SFRS(I) and IFRS.

All references to SFRS(Il) and IFRS are subsequently referred to as IFRS in these financial statements
unless otherwise specified.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of accounting and preparation (continued)

The combined financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis except as disclosed
in the accounting policies below.

The combined financial statements are presented in United States dollars ("US$"), unless otherwise stated.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group's current liabilities exceeded its current assets by US$2,697,185
(2019: US$6,146,574). Consequently, the directors have given consideration to the future liquidity and
operation of the Group in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient financial resources to continue
as a going concern. The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis as the total
other liabilities arising from the put options arrangement (Note 24) amounting to US$6,120,276 (2019:
US$6,444,150) will not be acquired by the Company after the Reorganisation Exercise on 1 April 2021 as
explained in Note 1.2(b).

2.2 First-time adoption of IFRS

The combined financial statements, for the year ended 31 December 2020, are the first the Group has
prepared in accordance with IFRS. For periods up to and including 31 December 2019, the Group prepared
its financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (Local GAAP).

Accordingly, the Group has prepared financial statements that comply with IFRS applicable as at 31
December 2020. In preparing the combined financial statements, the Group’s opening statement of
financial position was prepared at 1 January 2019, the Group’s date of transition to IFRS. The note
explains the principal adjustments made by the Group in restating its Local GAAP financial statements
including the statement of financial position as at 1 January 2019.

Exemptions applied

IFRS 1 allows first-time adopters certain exemptions from the retrospective application of certain
requirements under IFRS.

The Group has applied the following exemptions:

IFRS 3 Business Combinations has not been applied to either acquisitions of subsidiaries that are
considered businesses under IFRS, or acquisitions in associates and joint ventures that occurred
before 1 January 2019. Use of this exemption means that the Local GAAP carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities, that are required to be recognised under IFRS, are their deemed cost at the
date of acquisition. After the date of the acquisition, measurement is in accordance with IFRS.
Assets and liabilities that do not qualify for recognition under IFRS are excluded from the opening
IFRS statement statement of financial position. The Group did not recognise any assets or liabilities
that were not recognised under the Local GAAP or exclude any previously recognised amounts as a
result of IFRS recognition requirements.

IFRS 1 also requires that the Local GAAP carrying amount of goodwill must be used in the opening
IFRS statement of financial position (apart from adjustments for goodwill impairment and recognition
or derecogntion of intangible assets). In accordance with IFRS 1, the Group has tested goodwill
impairment at the date of transition to IFRS. There was no impairment recognised on goodwill at 1
January 2019.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 First-time adoption of IFRS (continued)

The Group has not applied IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates
retrospectively to fair value adjustments and goodwill from business combinations that occurred
before the date of transition to IFRS. Such fair value adjustments and goodwill are treated as assets
and liabilities of the parent rather than as assets and liabilities of the acquiree.

Therefore, those assets and liabilities are already expressed in the functional currency of the parent
or are non-monetary foreign currency items and no further translation differences occur.

The Group assessed all contracts existing at 1 January 2019 to determine whether a contract
contains a lease based upon the conditions in place as at 1 January 2019.

Lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted
using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at 1 January 2019. Right-of-use assets were
measured at the amount equal to the lease liabilities, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or
accrued lease payments relating to the lease recognised in the statement of financial position
immediately before 1 January 2019. The lease payments associated with leases for which the lease
term ends within 12 months of the date of transition to IFRS and leases for which the underlying
asset is of low value have been recognised as an expense on either a straight-line basis over the
lease term or another systematic basis.

The effect of adoption of IFRS 16 as at 1 January 2019 was as follows:

Increase/
(decrease)
Uss$
Assets
Right-of-use assets 5,148,403
Property, plant and equipment (73,134)
Deferred tax assets 14,873
Liabilities
Lease liabilities 5,245,122
Finance lease payables (84,217)

Retained profits (70,763)
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 First-time adoption of IFRS (continued)

The Group has adopted the amendment to IFRS 16 Leases: COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions
and has applied the practical expedient applicable in this amendment that is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020.

The standard allows the lessee to account for any COVID-19 related rent concessions received as a
variable lease payment with the effect of the rent concession recognised directly in the combined
statement of comprehensive income, rather than a lease modification, which generally requires a
lessee to remeasure the lease liability by discounting the revised lease payments using a hew
discount rate under IFRS 16 Leases.

Estimates

The estimates at 1 January 2019 and at 31 December 2019 are consistent with those made for the
same dates in accordance with Local GAAP (after adjustments to reflect any differences in
accounting policies). The estimates used by the Group to present these amounts in accordance with
IFRS reflect conditions at 1 January 2019, the date of transition to IFRS and as at 31 December
2019.

2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective

The Group has not adopted the following standards applicable to the Group that have been issued but not
yet effective:

Effective for annual

periods beginning on
Description or after

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4, IFRS 16: Interest

Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 1 January 2021
Amendments to IFRS 3: Reference to Conceptual Framework 1 January 2022
Amendments to IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds

before Intended Use 1 January 2022
Amendments to IAS 37: Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a

Contract 1 January 2022
Annual Improvements to IFRS 2018-2020 1 January 2022
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-

current 1 January 2023
Amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023
Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of

Accounting Policies 1 January 2023
Amendments to IAS 8: Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale of Contribution of Assets Date to be

between and Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture determined

The directors expect that the adoption of the standards above will have no material impact on the financial
statements in the year of initial application.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Basis of combination, business combinations and goodwill

Basis of combination

As disclosed in Note 2.1, prior to the incorporation of the Company in 2021 and the completion of the
Reorganisation Exercise, the operating activities of the Group were carried out by YCP Holdings Limited
and its subsidiaries. In substance, the Group is a continuation of YCP Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries.
These combined financial statements of the Group are the consolidated financial statements of YCP
Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries as at and for the financial years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020.

Capital reserve as presented in the combined financial statements represent the share capital of YCP
Holdings Limited.

Pursuant to this:

Assets, liabilities, reserves, revenue and expenses of combined entities are reflected at their
existing amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements of YCP Holdings Limited,;

No amount is recognised for goodwill; and

The retained profits recognised in the combined financial statements referred to the retained
profits of YCP Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries.

Business combinations and goodwiill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of
liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed
as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired set of activities and assets
includes an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create
outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

228/341



EDINETOOOO
ODOo00oDOo0oDoooooo0boogOooo(esr220)

0o0o000ooooood
YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Notes to Combined Financial Statements
For the financial years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Basis of combination, business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred,
the amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group's previously held equity
interests in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31
December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of
the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

25 Transactions with non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interest represents the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to owners
of the Company.

Changes in the Company's ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying amounts of the controlling and
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee that is controlled by the Group. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the
Group has:

Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee);

Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee;

The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control.

2.7 Investment in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of generally not less than 20% of the
equity voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant influence
is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control
or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group accounts for its investments in associates and joint ventures using the equity method from the
date on which it becomes an associate or joint venture.

On acquisition of the investment, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group's share of the
net fair value of the investee's identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for as goodwill and is included
in the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the
investee's identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment is included as income in the
determination of the entity's share of the associate and joint venture's profit or loss in the period in which
the investment is acquired.

Under the equity method, investment in associates and joint ventures is carried in the balance sheet at cost
plus post-acquisition changes in the Group's share of net assets of the associates or joint ventures. The
profit or loss reflects the share of results of the operations of the associates or joint ventures. Distributions
received from associates and joint ventures reduce the carrying amount of the investment. Where there
has been a change recognised in other comprehensive income by the joint ventures, the Group recognises
its share of such changes in other comprehensive income. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the
associates and joint ventures.

When the Group's share of losses in an associate and joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the
associate or joint venture, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate and joint venture.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Investment in associates and joint ventures (continued)

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an
additional impairment loss on the Group's investment in associates and joint ventures. The Group
determines at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that the investment
in the associate and joint venture is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate or joint venture and its
carrying value and recognises the amount in profit or loss.

The financial statements of the associates and joint ventures are prepared as at the same reporting date as
the Company. Where necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those
of the Group.

2.8 Foreign currency

The Group's combined financial statements are presented in US$, which is also the Company’s functional
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items
are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured.
The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with
the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item
whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

Combined financial statements

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into US$ at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their statements of profit or loss are translated at exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The exchange differences arising on translation for
consolidation are recognised in other comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying

amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operation and translated at the closing rate.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-
constructed assets include:

the cost of materials and direct labour;

any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended
use;

when the Group has an obligation to remove the asset or restore the site, an estimate of the costs of
dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located; and

capitalised borrowing costs.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in
the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms and 20%
Machinery 10% to 33%
Furniture and fixtures 20% to 33%
Motor vehicles 16% to 50%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial
acquisition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised development costs, are not
capitalised and expenditure is reflected in profit or loss in the year in which the expenditure is incurred.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of
future economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortisation period or
method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives or not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually
either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The
useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from
indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised.

Purchased patents and licenses

The purchased patents and licenses are stated at cost less any impairment losses and are amortised on
the straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 10 years.

Trademarks

The purchased trademarks are stated at cost less any impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives of 10 years.

Software

The purchased software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is amortised on the straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of 5 years.

Internet domain name

The purchased internet domain name is stated at cost less any impairment losses. It has indefinite useful
life as there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate cash flows
for the Group.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Intangible assets (continued)

Customer relationships

The customer relationships acquired through a business combination are recognised initially at fair value at
the acquisition date. Subsequently, this intangible asset is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses. Amortisation of customer relationships is calculated using the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives, which are determined to be 10 years.

2.11  Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than inventories, deferred tax assets and financial assets), the asset's recoverable amount is estimated.

An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair
value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset.

An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other
than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which
it arises.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Financial instruments

(@ Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets
at initial recognition.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a
financial asset not at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Trade receivables are measured at the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts
collected on behalf of a third party, if the trade receivables do not contain a significant financing
component at initial recognition.

Subsequent measurement

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the asset. The three
measurement categories for classification of debt instruments are:

® Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost.
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest
method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

(i)  Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) Financial assets designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the
financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and
interest, are measured at FVOCI. Financial assets measured at FVOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value. Any gains or losses from changes in fair value of the financial assets
are recognised in other comprehensive income, except for impairment losses, foreign
exchange gains and losses and interest calculated using the effective interest method which
are recognised in profit or loss. The cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification
adjustment when the financial asset is derecognised.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.12  Financial instruments (continued)

(@ Financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain
or loss on a debt instrument that is subsequently measured at FVPL and is not part of a

hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Investment in equity instruments

This category includes equity investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at
fair value through other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments classified as
financial assets at fair value profit or loss are also recognised as other income in profit or loss when
the right of payment has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably. For
investments in equity instruments which the Group has not elected to present subsequent changes in
fair value in other comprehensive income, changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset is de-recognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset
has expired. On de-recognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised in other comprehensive income for debt instruments is recognised in profit or loss.

(b)  Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of its

financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus in the case of financial liabilities not at
fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables, other payables and certain accruals, interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, lease liabilities, an amount due to a director and other liabilities.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.12  Financial instruments (continued)

(b)  Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement
After initial recognition, financial liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the liabilities are de-recognised, and through the amortisation process.

Derivatives financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as
assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative. Any gains or
losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives are taken directly to profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled,
or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a
new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or
loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the combined
statement of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal rights to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

2.13  Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses ("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at
fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from
the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is
required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.13 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due.
However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in
full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income and financial assets at amortised cost
are subject to impairment under the general approach and they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition
and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a significant financing component or when the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

2.14 Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.
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2.

2.14

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the lease (that is the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of
the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings 5 years
Machinery 310 10 years
Office equipments 3to 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end of the lease term or the cost
reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of
the asset.

The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to section 2.12 Impairment of non-
financial assets.

(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount
of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.14 Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)
(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of machinery
and equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). When the Group enters into a lease in
respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease
basis.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

2.15 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on first-in, first-out
basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and
an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Where necessary, allowance is provided for damaged, obsolete and slow moving items to adjust the
carrying value of inventories to the lower of cost and net realisable value.

2.16 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash management.

2.17 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation and
the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best
estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the
obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are
discounted using a current pre tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a
finance cost.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of that asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the
activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and
borrowing costs are incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets are substantially completed
for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

2.19 Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. The grant is recognised in profit or loss
on a systematic basis over the periods in which the entity recognises as expenses the related costs for
which the grants are intended to compensate. Grants related to income may be presented as a credit in
profit or loss, either separately or under heading such as “Other income”. Alternatively, they are deducted
in reporting the related expenses.

2.20 Revenue

Revenue from contract with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of goods or services is transferred to
the customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the amount of consideration is estimated
to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the customer with a significant benefit of
financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer at contract inception. When the
contract contains a financing component which provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the
contract liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component, using the practical expedient in
IFRS 15.

(a8 Management services - Management fee income
Revenue from the provision of management services is recognised over the scheduled period on a

straight-line basis because the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Revenue (continued)

(b) Management services - Advisory fee income

Revenue from the provision of advisory services is recognised either (i) point in time when control of
the promised good or service is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the advisory
reports; or (ii) [over time, using output method, based on direct measurements of the value of the
services transferred to the customer to date, relative to the remaining services promised under the
contract, depending if the contract has relevant terms that entitle the Group with enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.]

(c) Food and beverage income

Revenue from food and beverage is recognised at the point in time when control of the promised
good or service is transferred to the customer at the respective retail shop.

(d) Personal care income

Revenue from the sale of food products is recognised at a point in time when control of the asset is
transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the personal care products.

(e) Pet care service income
Revenue from pet care service is recognised over time by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligations, as the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

(H  Education service income
Revenue from education service is recognised over time by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligations, as the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

(g) Other strategic investment sales - Internet media income
Revenue from internet media income is recognised over time by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligations, as the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

(h)  Other income — interest income
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the

rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Contract assets and liabilities

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to the
customer. If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer pays
consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration that is
conditional. Contract assets are subject to impairment assessment, details of which are included in the
accounting policies for impairment of financial assets.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related
goods or services to the customer).

2.22  Employee benefits

(@) Defined contribution plans
Pension scheme — Singapore

Payments made to state-managed retirement benefit schemes, such as the Singapore Central
Provident Fund, are dealt with as payments to defined contribution plans and are charged as an
expenses as they fall due.

Pension scheme — Japan

Employees in Japan are required to be covered under the National Pension System in accordance
with the Japan law. Contributions to the pension funds by the Group are calculated as a percentage
of employees' basic salaries. The retirement benefit plan cost charged to profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the pension funds.

Pension scheme — Hong Kong

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.22  Employee benefits (continued)

(b) Defined benefit plans

The Group provides provisions for employee service entittements in order to meet the minimum
benefits required to be paid to qualified employees, as required under the Indonesia Labour Law
N0.13/2003. The said provisions, which are unfunded, are estimated using the projected unit credit
actuarial valuation method.

Remeasurements arising from the defined benefit liability comprising of actuarial gains and losses,
are recognised immediately in the combined statement of financial position with a corresponding
debit or credit to retained profits through other comprehensive income in the period in which they
occur. Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss at the earlier of:
the date of the plan amendment or curtailment; and

the date that the Group recognises restructuring-related costs.

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability. The Group
recognises the following changes in the net defined benefit liabilities under "Administrative expenses"
in the combined statement of profit or loss:

service costs comprising current service costs, past-service costs, gains and losses on
curtailments and non-routine settlements; and

net interest expense or income.

2.23  Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Employees (including
directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby employees
render services as consideration for equity instruments ("equity-settled transactions").

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the
date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model,
further details of which are given in Note 32 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfiled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting
period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group's best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement
of profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.23  Share-based payments (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when determining the grant
date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group's
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions
are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an
associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are
reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are
also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance and/or service conditions have not
been met, no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the
transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied,
provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the
terms had not been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is
recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and
any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where
non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a
new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of
earnings per share.

2.24 Taxes

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or
loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

(& Currentincome tax
Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively

enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.24 Taxes (continued)

(b) Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences,
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the

period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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2.

2.24

2.25

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Taxes (continued)

(b) Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

(c) Salestax
Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:
When the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the
taxation authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of

the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

When receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authorities are included as
part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

Contingencies

A contingent liability is:

(&) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of
the Group; or

(b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:

0] It is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation; or

(i)  The amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed

only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group.

Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the statement of financial position of the Group,

except for contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination that are present obligations and which
the fair values can be reliably determined.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.26  Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may
earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of
the Group’s other components. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the
Group’s CEO (the chief operating decision maker) and senior management to make decisions about
resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance, and for which discrete financial
information is available.

Segment results that are reported to the Group’s CEO and senior management include items directly
attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items
comprise mainly corporate assets (primarily the Company’s headquarters), head office expenses, and tax
assets and liabilities.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to acquire property, plant and
equipment, and intangible assets other than goodwiill.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's combined financial statements requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities,
and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

3.1 Judgements made in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management is of the opinion that there is no
significant judgement made in applying accounting policies.

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwiill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2020 was US$11,758,830 (2019:
US$10,305,073). Further details are given in Note 13.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (continued)

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets at the end of each reporting period. An impairment exists when the carrying value of an
asset or a cash-generating unit (“CGU”") exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. Management has used the value-in-use method to
assess recoverable amounts of the CGU. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets at 31 December 2020 was US$1,409,912 (2019: US$636,408)
and US$4,764,215 (2019: US$4,753,622) respectively. Further details are given in Note 12.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level
of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. The amount of unrecognised tax
losses at 31 December 2020 was US$3,087,189 (2019: US$4,525,691). Further details are contained in
Note 29 to the financial statements.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an
incremental borrowing rate ("IBR") to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the
Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to
obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR
therefore reflects what the Group "would have to pay", which requires estimation when no observable rates
are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in the
subsidiary's functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market
interest rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the
subsidiary's stand-alone credit rating).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (continued)

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade and other receivables. The provision rates
are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns
(i.e., by customer type and rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's historical observed default rates. The Group will
calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For
instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic products) are expected to deteriorate over
the next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults, the historical default rates are adjusted.
At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and
forecast economic conditions. The Group's historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of customer's actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group's trade receivables is disclosed in Note 19 to the financial statements.

4, OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and
services and has four reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) management service segment which engaged in the provision of management and advisory services;

(b) personal care segment which engaged in the development, production and sales of material and
organic products;

(c) pet care segment which engaged in the operation of veterinary hospital and pet care business; and

(d) strategic investment segment principally comprises of operations in food and beverage industry,
education services, trading of fertility check-up kit and provision of related internet marketing service.

Management monitors the results of the Group's operating segments separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated
based on reportable segment profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax. The
adjusted operating profit is measured consistently with the Group's operating profit except that fair value
gain on derivative financial instruments, loss on derecognition of derivative financial instrument, finance
income, finance costs, share of profits and losses of associates and corporate and unallocated expenses
are excluded from such measurement.
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4, OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment assets exclude investments in associates, derivative financial instruments and corporate and
unallocated assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude other liabilities and corporate and unallocated liabilities as these liabilities are
managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the selling prices used for sales made to
third parties at the then prevailing market prices.

2020
Management  Personal Strategic
service care Pet care investments Total
uUss uUss$ Uss uUss$ USss$
Segment revenue
Revenue from external
customers 32,436,346 15,946,922 3,839,344 6,689,761 58,912,373
Intersegment revenue 1,618,339 47,664 1,187 398,333 2,065,523

34,054,685 15,994,586 3,840,531 7,088,094 60,977,896
Reconciliation:
Elimination of intersegment
revenue (2,065,523)

Total revenue 58,912,373
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
2020 (continued)
Management  Personal Strategic
service care Pet care investments Total
US$ Uss$ US$ Uss$ Us$
Segment results before non-
cash items 11,828,266 625,005 393,678 1,627,220 14,474,169

Non-cash items
Reversal of impairment of

trade receivables 40,202 - - - 40,202
Impairment of property,

plant and equipment - -
Impairment of other

intangible assets - -
Impairment of right-of-use

(76,064) (76,064)

(16,369) (16,369)

assets - - - (63,538) (63,538)
Write-off of inventories - (59,486) - - (59,486)
Depreciation (2,366,437) (60,213)  (241,183) (2,638,773) (5,306,606)
Amortisation (202,113) (52,510) (3,362) (26,832) (284,817)

(Loss)/gain on disposal of
property, plant and

equipment (7,023) - 749 2,163 (4,111)
Loss on disposal of other
intangible assets (16,943) (14,885) - - (31,828)

Fair value gain on an equity
investment at fair value

through profit or loss - - - 827,976 827,976
Gain on termination of

leases 27,097 38 1,571 2,436 31,142
Gain on bargain purchase - - - 1,590,312 1,590,312

Gain on disposal of
subsidiaries and

businesses 4 - 85,133 381,400 466,537
Defined benefit expenses (92,379) - - - (92,379)
Share option expenses (17,479) - - - (17,479)
Segment results 9,193,195 437,949 236,586 1,609,931 11,477,661
Fair value gain on derivative

financial instruments 18,769
Corporate and unallocated

expenses (3,278,103)
Operating profit 8,218,327
Finance income 2,443
Finance costs (732,305)
Share of profits and losses

of associates (219,476)
Profit before tax 7,268,989
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4, OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
2020 (continued)
Management  Personal Strategic
service care Pet care  investments Total
US$ uss$ US$ Uss$ US$
Segment assets 26,060,508 4,314,366 6,141,630 15,309,071 51,825,575
Reconciliation:
Elimination of intersegment
assets (280,857)
Investments in associates 283,117
Corporate and other
unallocated assets 2,664,726
Total assets 54,492,561
Segment liabilities 17,428,867 4,170,134 4,965,811 4,169,403 30,734,215
Reconciliation:
Other liabilities 6,120,276
Elimination of intersegment
liabilities (280,857)
Corporate and unallocated
liabilities 2,857,627
Total liabilities 39,431,261
Other segment information
Capital expenditure # 267,644 20,029 8,074 1,350,874 1,646,621

Capital expenditure consists of additions of property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets including
assets from the acquisition of subsidiaries.
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4, OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
2019
Management Personal Strategic
service care Pet care  investments Total
uUss Uss$ Uss Uss$ uUss
Segment revenue
Revenue from external
customers 30,545,433 11,329,517 3,957,835 4,769,228 50,602,013
Intersegment revenue 4,091,507 75,504 4,585 383,192 4,554,788
34,636,940 11,405,021 3,962,420 5,152,420 55,156,801
Reconciliation:
Elimination of intersegment
revenue (4,554,788)
Total revenue 50,602,013
Segment results before non-
cash items 7,866,449 (798,729) 304,045 209,872 7,581,637
Non-cash items
Impairment of goodwill - - - (58,013) (58,013)
Impairment of trade
receivables (133,152) - (11,616) (75,251) (220,019)
Impairment of other
intangible assets - - - (24,630) (24,630)
Depreciation (1,999,247) (59,118)  (196,338) (921,518) (3,176,221)
Amortisation (205,221) (50,037) (4,346) (46,925) (306,529)
Fair value gain on an equity
investment at fair value
through profit or loss - - - 1,128,624 1,128,624
(Loss)/gain on disposal of
subsidiaries and
businesses (64,191) - 89,331 484,701 509,841
Segment results 5,464,638 (907,884) 181,076 696,860 5,434,690
Loss on derecognition of
derivative financial
instruments (1,093,151)
Fair value gain on derivative
financial instruments 100,193
Corporate and unallocated
expenses (2,938,388)
Operating profit 1,503,344
Finance income 5,087
Finance costs (1,124,916)
Share of profits and losses
of associates 77,470
Profit before tax 460,985
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4, OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
2019 (continued)
Management  Personal Strategic
service care Pet care  investments Total
US$ uss$ US$ Uss$ US$
Segment assets 25,388,708 3,244,432 4,251,578 11,748,233 44,632,951
Reconciliation:
Elimination of intersegment
assets (154,477)
Investments in associates 527,200
Derivative financial
instruments 1,117,217
Corporate and other
unallocated assets 1,646,640
Total assets 47,769,531
Segment liabilities 19,797,554 3,501,562 2,739,239 2,208,189 28,246,544
Reconciliation:
Other liabilities 6,444,150
Elimination of intersegment
liabilities (154,477)
Corporate and unallocated
liabilities 4,679,023
Total liabilities 39,215,240
Other segment information
Capital expenditure # 181,356 63,934 79,818 133,761 458,869

Capital expenditure consists of additions of property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets.
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4, OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Geographical information
(@ Revenue from external customers
2020 2019
Uss$ Uss$
Japan 37,220,689 31,792,399
Greater China 9,485,139 5,708,869
Southeast Asia 9,531,422 9,623,424
North America 1,046,873 1,116,933
Europe 282,930 424,563
Middle east 1,329,768 1,868,195
India 15,552 67,630

58,912,373 50,602,013

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the legal entities which earned the
revenue.

(b)  Non-current assets

2020 2019

USss$ US$
Japan 6,272,121 5,819,287
Greater China 3,132,630 1,208,352
Southeast Asia 10,338,766 11,132,008
Middle east 18,443 55,922
India - 5,959

19,761,960 18,221,528

The non-current asset information above is based on the locations of assets and excludes financial
assets and deferred tax assets.

Information about a major customer

During the year 31 December 2020, no revenue from transactions with a single external customer
amounted to 10% or more of the Group's total revenue (2019: Nil).
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
Revenue from contracts with customers
(a) Disaggregated revenue information
For the year ended 31 December 2020
Management Personal Strategic
service care Pet care investments Total
Uss$ Uss$ USs$ USs$ USs$
Segments
Types of goods or
services
Management services 18,811,206 - - — 18,811,206
Advisory services 13,625,140 - - — 13,625,140
Personal care — 15,946,922 - — 15,946,922
Pet care - - 3,839,344 - 3,839,344
Food and beverage — — — 6,475,730 6,475,730
Education — — — 15,204 15,204
Others - - - 198,827 198,827

32,436,346 15,946,922 3,839,344 6,689,761 58,912,373

Geographical markets

Japan 16,964,808 15,852,405 3,839,344 564,132 37,220,689
Greater China 6,297,208 4,672 - 3,183,259 9,485,139
Southeast Asia 6,499,207 89,845 - 2,942,370 9,531,422
North America 1,046,873 - - — 1,046,873
Europe 282,930 - - - 282,930
Middle east 1,329,768 - - - 1,329,768
India 15,552 - - - 15,552

32,436,346 15,946,922 3,839,344 6,689,761 58,912,373

Timing of revenue

recognition
Services transferred

over time 26,184,805 — 3,839,344 15,204 30,039,353
Goods and services

transferred at a point

in time 6,251,541 15,946,922 - 6,674,557 28,873,020

32,436,346 15,946,922 3,839,344 6,689,761 58,912,373
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2019
Management Personal Strategic
service care Pet care investments Total
Uss$ Uss$ Us$ Us$ Us$
Segments
Types of goods or
services
Management services 21,968,957 - - — 21,968,957
Advisory services 8,576,476 - - - 8,576,476
Personal care — 11,329,517 - — 11,329,517
Pet care - - 3,957,835 - 3,957,835
Food and beverage — — — 3,853,715 3,853,715
Education - - - 628,066 628,066
Others - - - 287,447 287,447

30,545,433 11,329,517 3,957,835 4,769,228 50,602,013

Geographical markets

Japan 15,892,772 11,218,350 3,957,835 723,442 31,792,399
Greater China 5,612,686 - - 96,183 5,708,869
Southeast Asia 5,562,654 111,167 - 3,949,603 9,623,424
North America 1,116,933 - - - 1,116,933
Europe 424,563 - - - 424,563
Middle east 1,868,195 - - - 1,868,195
India 67,630 - - - 67,630

30,545,433 11,329,517 3,957,835 4,769,228 50,602,013

Timing of revenue

recognition
Services transferred

over time 21,968,957 - 3,957,835 915,513 26,842,305
Goods and services

transferred at a point

in time 8,576,476 11,329,517 - 3,853,715 23,759,708

30,545,433 11,329,517 3,957,835 4,769,228 50,602,013
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a) Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised in the current reporting period that
was included in contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period and recognised from
performance obligations satisfied in previous periods:

2020 2019
Uss$ Uss$
Revenue recognised that was included in contract
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:
Advisory fee income 365,871 108,912

(b) Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is summarised below:

Management services- Management fee income

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are rendered and short-term advances
are normally required before rendering the services. Management service contracts are for periods
of one year or less, or are billed based on the time incurred.

Management services- Advisory fee income

The performance obligation is satisfied either (i) upon delivery of the advisory reports and payment is
generally due within 30 days from delivery; or (ii) overtime as services are rendered and payment is
generally due within 30 days from the date of billing.

Food and beverage income

The performance obligation is satisfied when the catering services have been provided to
customers. The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on cash and credit card
settlement. The credit period is generally less than one month.

Sale of personal care products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the personal care products and payment is
generally due within 30 days from delivery.

Pet care service income

The performance obligation is generally satisfied over time as services are provided and payment is
generally due when the services have been rendered.
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(b)  Performance obligations (continued)

Education service income

The performance obligation is generally satisfied over time as services are provided and payment is
generally due when the services have been rendered.

Other strategic investment sales- Internet media fee income

The performance obligation is generally satisfied over time as services are provided and payment is
generally due when the services have been rendered.

Transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligation

The aggregate amount of transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied)
performance obligations as at 31 December 2020 is US$698,571. This amount has not included the
following:

Performance obligations for which the Group has applied practical expedient not to disclose
information about its remaining obligations if:

The performance obligation is part of a contract that has an original expected duration for
one year or less, or

The Group recognizes revenue in the amount to which the Group has a right to invoice
customers in amounts that correspond directly with the value to the customer of the
Group’s performance completed to fate.

The Group expects to recognise US$1,488,737 as revenue relating to the transaction price allocated

to the unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) performance obligations as at 31 December 2020 in the
financial year 2021.
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)
Other income and gains
2020 2019
Uss$ USH
Fair value gain on an equity investment at fair value through
profit on loss 827,976 1,128,624
Fair value gain on derivative financial instruments (Note 25) 18,769 100,193
Gain on bargain purchase (Note 33) 1,590,312 -
Gain on disposal of a subsidiaries and businesses
(Note 34) 466,537 509,841
Government grants # 218,023 -
Others - 28,047

3,121,617 1,766,705

# Government grants mainly pertain to the Anti-epidemic Fund - Catering Business (Social Distancing)
Subsidy Scheme operated by the Food and Environmental Hygiene Department (FEHD) in Hong Kong.
This is an one-off subsidy provided to eligible licence holders of the premises in operation including general
restaurants, light refreshment restaurants, marine restaurants and factory canteens according to the
approved floor area of the licensed premises
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PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX
The Group's profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
2020 2019
uss uss
Cost of inventories sold 6,627,142 4,745,749
Cost of services provided 3,011,229 3,134,057
Employee benefit expenses (including directors’
remuneration (Note 9)):*
Wages and salaries 21,283,497 19,913,834
Pension scheme contributions 1,685,575 1,680,480
Defined benefit expense (Note 30) 92,379 -
Equity-settled share option expenses (Note 32) 17,479 -
23,078,930 21,594,314
Depreciation:
Property, plant and equipment (Note 12) 726,365 381,898
Right-of-use assets (Note 12) 4,580,241 2,794,323
5,306,606 3,176,221
Auditor's remuneration 1,027,656 779,325
Expenses relating to short-term leases 263,090 373,199
Foreign exchange differences, net 133,516 35,081
Loss on disposal property, plant and equipment 4,111 168,665
(Gain)/loss on termination of leases (31,142) 2,716
Loss on disposal of other intangible assets 31,828 24,117
Impairment of goodwill (Note 13) - 58,013
Impairment of property, plant and equipment (Note 12) 76,064 -
Impairment of other intangible assets (Note 14) 16,369 24,630
Impairment of right-of-use assets (Note 12) 63,538 -
Write-off of inventories 59,486 -
Amortisation of other intangible assets (Note 14) 284,817 306,529
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment of trade receivables
(Note 19) (40,202) 220,019
Gain on bargain purchase (Note 34) (1,590,312) -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries and businesses (Note 34) (466,537) (509,841)
Fair value gain on an equity investment at fair value through
profit or loss (827,976) (1,128,624)
Fair value gain on derivative financial instruments (Note 25) (18,769) (100,193)
Loss on derecognition of derivative financial instruments
(Note 25a) - 1,093,151

* Employee benefit expenses included in “Cost of sales” and "Administrative expenses" in the combined statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income amounted to US$6,367,317 (2019: US$5,962,435) and

US$16,711,613 (2019: US$15,631,879), respectively.
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7. FINANCE INCOME
2020 2019
uss$ Us$
Bank interest income 2,443 5,087
8. FINANCE COSTS
An analysis of finance costs is as follows:
2020 2019
uss uss
Interest on interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 369,026 590,831
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 27) 147,840 113,785
Interest on other liabilities (Note 24) 215,439 420,300

732,305 1,124,916

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
2020 2019
Us$ Uss
Fees 81,068 33,974
Other emoluments:
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 625,140 254,113
Equity-settled share option expenses 94 -
706,302 288,087
10. INCOME TAX
2020 2019
uss Uss$
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income:
Current income tax
- Charge for the year 1,749,665 1,059,682
- Overprovision in prior years (14,138) (9,005)
Deferred tax
- Origination and reversal of temporary differences (766,546) 632,058

Total tax charge for the year 968,981 1,682,735
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Notes to Combined Financial Statements
For the financial years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020

10.

INCOME TAX (continued)

Relationship between tax expense and accounting profit

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the statutory rates for the countries in
which YCP Holdings Limited and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the
effective tax rate is as follows:

2020 2019
uss$ % uss$ %
Profit before tax 7,268,989 460,985
Tax at the statutory tax rate 1,199,383 16.5 76,063 16.5
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 626,728 8.8 204,069 44.3
Tax effects of:
Income not subject to tax (593,273) (8.3) (270,347) (58.6)
Expenses not deductible for tax 36,883 0.5 470,456 102.1
Overprovision in prior years (14,138) (0.2) (9,005) (2.0)
Profits and losses attributable to associates 36,214 0.5 (12,783) (2.8)
Tax losses utilised from previous periods (225,551) (3.2) - -
Deferred tax recognised in respect of previous
periods (369,862) (5.2) - -
Tax losses not recognised 221,610 3.1 1,063,667 230.7
Effect of withholding tax 96,210 1.4 176,281 38.2
Others (45,223) (0.6) (15,666)  (3.4)
Tax expense at the Group's effective rate 968,981 13.3 1,682,735 365.0

For the financial year ended 31 December 2020, there is no share of tax attributable to associates included
in "Share of profits and losses of associates" in the combined statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income (2019: US$57,020).

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for YCP Holdings Limited which is a qualifying entity
under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The first HK$2,000,000 (equivalent to US$257,921) (2019:
HK$2,000,000 (equivalent to US$256,869)) of assessable profits is taxed at 8.25% and the remaining
assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at
the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates (e.g. the rate of Japan at 35% and
Singapore at 17%).
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Notes to Combined Financial Statements
For the financial years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020

11. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share amounts is based on the profit/(loss) for the year
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the YCP Holdings Limited, and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 16,299,296 (2019: 16,401,000) in issue during the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, no adjustment has been made to the basic earnings/
(loss) per share amount presented as there were no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue.

Group
2020 2019
Earnings/(loss)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to equity holders of YCP
Holdings Limited used in the computation of basic earnings/
(loss) per share 6,339,589 (1,186,967)

Number of shares
2020 2019

Shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during
the year used in the basic and diluted earnings per share
calculation 16,299,296 16,401,000
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment Right-of-use assets
Furniture
Leasehold and Motor Office
31 December 2020 improvements Machinery fixtures vehicles Total Buildings Machinery equipment Total Total
Us$ Uss Us$ Us$ Uss$ Uss$ uUss uUss uUss USs$
At 31 December
2019 and 1
January 2020:
Cost 521,460 1,593,891 132,259 64,371 2,311,981 10,491,418 191,432 53,106 10,735,956 13,047,937
Accumulated
depreciation
and
impairment (232,465) (1,321,826) (56,911) (64,371) (1,675,573) (5,800,269) (145,387) (36,678) (5,982,334) (7,657,907)
Net carrying
amount 288,995 272,065 75,348 - 636,408 4,691,149 46,045 16,428 4,753,622 5,390,030
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For the financial years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020
12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)
Property, plant and equipment Right-of-use assets
Furniture

31 December 2020 Leasehold and Motor Office

(continued) improvements Machinery fixtures vehicles Total Buildings Machinery equipment Total Total

US$ US$ US$ US$ USs$ US$ USs$ US$ USs$ USs$

At 1 January 2020,

net of

accumulated

depreciation 288,995 272,065 75,348 - 636,408 4,691,149 46,045 16,428 4,753,622 5,390,030
Additions 380,109 163,163 23,233 - 566,505 3,580,255 14,191 51,116 3,645,562 4,212,067
Acquisitions

through

subsidiaries and

businesses

(Note 33) 487,507 529,381 - 1,937 1,018,825 1,709,093 60,896 - 1,769,989 2,788,814
Disposals (5,008) 1,443 (546) - (4,111) - - - - (4,1112)
Early termination

of leases - - - - - (800,927)  (26,201) (3,787)  (830,915)  (830,915)
Disposal of

subsidiaries and

businesses

(Note 34) (3,343)  (13,230) - - (16,573) - - - - (16,573)
Depreciation

provided during

the year (392,189) (301,703) (32,147) (326)  (726,365) (4,540,756)  (29,995) (9,490) (4,580,241) (5,306,606)
Impairment (807)  (74,158)  (1,099) - (76,064) (63,538) - - (63,538)  (139,602)
Exchange

realignment 7,723 2,841 733 (20) 11,287 68,318 886 532 69,736 81,023
At 31 December

2020, net of

accumulated

depreciation

and impairment 762,987 579,802 65,522 1,601 1,409,912 4,643,594 65,822 54,799 4,764,215 6,174,127
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For the financial years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020
12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)
Property, plant and equipment Right-of-use assets
Furniture

31 December 2020  Leasehold and Motor Office

(continued) improvements Machinery fixtures vehicles Total Buildings Machinery equipment Total Total

Uss$ Uss$ Uss$ Uss$ Us$ Uss$ Uss$ Uss$ Us$ US$

At 31 December
2020:
Cost 1,379,918
Accumulated
depreciation
and
impairment

2,200,490 153,847 66,308 3,800,563

(616,931) (1,620,688) (88,325) (64,707) (2,390,651)

13,786,641 239,559 79,433 14,105,633 17,906,196

(9,143,047) (173,737) (24,634) (9,341,418) (11,732,069)

Net carrying

amount 762,987 579,802 65,522 1,601 1,409,912

4,643,594 65,822 54,799 4,764,215 6,174,127
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For the financial years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020
12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)
Property, plant and equipment Right-of-use assets
Furniture
Leasehold and Motor Office
31 December 2019 improvements Machinery fixtures vehicles Total Buildings Machinery equipment Total Total
Uss$ Us$ Uss$ Uss Uss$ Us$ Us$ USs$ Uss$ US$

At 31 December 2018

and 1 January

2019:

Cost 594,181 1,506,518 88,728 110,401 2,299,828 4,969,278 151,145 27,980 5,148,403 7,448,231

Accumulated

depreciation
and impairment (162,303) (1,063,199) (41,937) (64,939) (1,332,378) - - - - (1,332,378)

Net carrying

amount 431,878 443,319 46,791 45,462 967,450 4,969,278 151,145 27,980 5,148,403 6,115,853
At 1 January 2019,

net of accumulated

depreciation 431,878 443,319 46,791 45,462 967,450 4,969,278 151,145 27,980 5,148,403 6,115,853
Additions 64,635 151,372 58,215 - 274,222 2,653,846 - - 2,653,846 2,928,068
Disposals (35,804)  (72,031) (14,800) (46,030)  (168,665) - - - - (168,665)
Early termination of

leases - - - - - (42,338) - - (42,338)  (42,338)
Disposal of

subsidiaries and

businesses

(Note 34) (67,081)  (10,097) (644) - (77,822) (140,409) (73,134)  (2,624) (216,167) (293,989)
Depreciation provided

during the year (109,169)  (246,088) (26,641) - (381,898) (2,753,244) (32,110)  (8,969) (2,794,323) (3,176,221)
Exchange

realignment 4,536 5,590 12,427 568 23,121 4,016 144 41 4,201 27,322
At 31 December

2019,

net of accumulated

depreciation and

impairment 288,995 272,065 75,348 - 636,408 4,691,149 46,045 16,428 4,753,622 5,390,030
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)
Property, plant and equipment Right-of-use assets
Furniture
31 December 2019  Leasehold and Motor Office
(continued) improvements Machinery fixtures vehicles Total Buildings Machinery equipment Total Total
Uss$ Us$ USs$ uUss Uss$ Uss$ Uss uUss uUss US$

At 31 December
2019:
Cost 521,460
Accumulated
depreciation
and
impairment

1,593,891 132,259 64,371 2,311,981

(232,465) (1,321,826) (56,911) (64,371) (1,675,573)

10,491,418 191,432 53,106 10,735,956 13,047,937

(5,800,269) (145,387) (36,678) (5,982,334) (7,657,907)

Net carrying

amount 288,995 272,065 75,348 - 636,408

4,691,149 46,045 16,428 4,753,622 5,390,030
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Notes to Combined Financial Statements
For the financial years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment of assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. In particular, management assesses impairment of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of the Food and Beverage (“F&B”") cash-generating
units (“CGU") which continued to underperform for the financial year ended 31 December 2020.

The recoverable amounts of the property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets relating to F&B
sector with indicators of impairment were determined based on their value in use and the pre-tax discount
rate used was 12% (2019: 12%). The terminal growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of the unit
beyond the five-year period is 0% (2019: 0%).

An impairment loss of US$76,064 (2019: Nil) for property, plant and equipment and US$63,538 (2019: Nil)
for right-of-use assets was recognised in the profit or loss.

13. GOODWILL

2020 2019
uss USs$
At 1 January:
Cost 10,363,086 10,639,927
Accumulated impairment (58,013) (321,228)
Net carrying amount 10,305,073 10,318,699
Cost at 1 January, net of accumulated impairment 10,305,073 10,318,699
Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses (Note 33) 1,565,988 110,990
Impairment (Note 6) - (58,013)
Disposal of subsidiaries and businesses
(Note 34) - (208,532)
Exchange realignment (112,231) 141,929
Net carrying amount at 31 December 11,758,830 10,305,073
At 31 December:
Cost 11,758,830 10,363,086
Accumulated impairment - (58,013)
Net carrying amount 11,758,830 10,305,073
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Notes to Combined Financial Statements
For the financial years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020

13. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwiill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to the following cash-generating units
(“CGU") for impairment testing:

Food and beverage;
Education;

Pet care service;
Management service; and
Internet media service

Food and beverage cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the food and beverage CGU has been determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year period (2019: five-
year period) approved by senior management. The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections is 12% (2019: 12%). The terminal growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of the unit
beyond the five-year period is 0% (2019: 0%).

Education service cash-generating unit

In 2018, the recoverable amount of the education service cash-generating unit has been determined based
on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year
period approved by senior management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections was 15%.
The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of the unit beyond the five-year period was 0% beyond
the five-year period.

Pet care service cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the pet care service cash-generating unit has been determined based on a
value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year period
(2019: five-year period) approved by senior management. The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash
flow projections is 15% (2019: 15%). The terminal growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of the
unit beyond the five-year period is 0% (2019: 0%). Anticipated revenue growth rates for the CGU ranges
from 0% to 5% (2019: 2% to 6%).

Management service cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the management service cash-generating unit has been determined based on a
value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year period
(2019: five-year period) approved by senior management. The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash
flow projections is ranging from 15% to 18% (2019: 15% to 18%). The terminal growth rate used to
extrapolate the cash flows of the unit beyond the five-year period is ranging from 0% to 3% (2019: 0% to
3% ). Anticipated revenue growth rates for the CGU ranges from 0% to 10% (2019: 1% to 10%).
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13. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Management service cash-generating unit (continued)

In the opinion of the directors, a decrease in the sales growth rate by 5.81% (2019: 5.58%) or increase in
the pre-tax discount rate by 19.05% (2019: 13.63%), in isolation, would cause the recoverable amount of
the management service cash-generating unit to be approximately equal to its carrying amount. As at 31
December 2020, the management service CGU's recoverable amount exceeds its carrying amount by
US$3,144,780 (2019: US$2,790,346).

Internet media service cash-generating unit

In 2019, the recoverable amount of the advertising service cash-generating unit has been determined
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-
year period approved by senior management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections was
15%. The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of the unit beyond the five-year period was 0%
beyond the five-year period.

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the cash-generating units is as follows:

Internet
Food and Education Petcare Management media
beverage service service service service Total
Uss$ uUss$ Us$ Us$ Us$ uUss$
At 31 December
2020 113,022 — 3,007,598 8,638,210 — 11,758,830
At 31 December
2019 110,990 - 1,362,259 8,831,824 — 10,305,073
At 1 January 2019 - 205,975 1,345,554 8,709,868 57,302 10,318,699

During the year ended 31 December 2019, impairment of US$58,013 was recognised because the
business of the internet media services had been loss-making in recent years. The impairment was
determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by senior management covering a five-year period. The pre-tax discount rate applied to cash
flow projections was 15%.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculations of the food and beverage, pet care service and
management service cash-generating units for 31 December 2020. The following describes each key
assumption on which management has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwill;
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13.

14.

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Budget gross margin — The basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is
the average gross margins achieved in the year immediately before the budget year, increased for
expected efficiency improvements, and expected market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant
units.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market development of food and beverage industries, pet
care service and management service and discount rates are consistent with external information sources.

As the carrying amounts of the CGUs were determined to be lower than its recoverable amount, no

impairment loss was recognised. Should the assumptions not be met, impairment loss may be required in
the future.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

1 January

2020 2019 2019

US$ USss$ US$

Intangible asset with indefinite useful life 16,381 15,479 15,289
Intangible assets with definite useful lives 1,529,505 1,983,746 2,169,029

1,545,886 1,999,225 2,184,318

Intangible asset stated with indefinite useful life

2020 2019
Uss$ Us$
Internet domain name
At beginning of year 15,479 15,289
Exchange realignment 902 190

At end of year 16,381 15,479
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14. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
Intangible asset stated with definite useful life
Patents and Customer
licences Trademarks Software relationships Total
USs$ USs$ USs$ USss$ Uss$
31 December 2020
At 1 January 2020:
Cost 172,063 24,056 452,914 2,114,492 2,763,525
Accumulated amortisation
and impairment (100,978) (24,056) (238,930) (415,815) (779,779)
Net carrying amount 71,085 - 213,984 1,698,677 1,983,746
Cost at 1 January 2020,
net of accumulated
amortisation and
impairment 71,085 - 213,984 1,698,677 1,983,746
Additions 18,595 - 41,898 - 60,493
Acquisitions of subsidiaries
and businesses (Note 33) - - 798 - 798
Disposals (14,556) - (17,272) - (31,828)
Disposal of subsidiaries and
businesses (Note 34) (48,300) - (93,858) - (142,158)
Amortisation provided during
the year (11,370) - (87,234) (186,213) (284,817)
Impairment (1,511) - (14,858) - (16,369)
Exchange realignment 2,885 - 8,208 (51,453) (40,360)
At 31 December 2020 16,828 - 51,666 1,461,011 1,529,505
At 31 December 2020:
Cost 108,299 - 185,958 2,114,492 2,408,749
Accumulated amortisation
and impairment (91,471) - (134,292)  (653,481)  (879,244)
Net carrying amount 16,828 - 51,666 1,461,011 1,529,505
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14. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
Intangible assets with definite useful lives (continued)
Patents and Customer
licences Trademarks Software relationships Total
Uss Uss$ USs$ Uss Uss
31 December 2019
At 1 January 2019:
Cost 240,669 24,056 279,367 2,114,492 2,658,584
Accumulated amortisation
and impairment (95,252) (24,056) (120,322) (249,925) (489,555)
Net carrying amount 145,417 - 159,045 1,864,567 2,169,029
Cost at 1 January 2019,
net of accumulated
amortisation and
impairment 145,417 - 159,045 1,864,567 2,169,029
Additions — — 184,647 — 184,647
Disposals (52,536) - (1,068) - (53,604)
Disposal of subsidiaries and
businesses (Note 34) - - (13,501) - (13,501)
Amortisation provided during
the year (23,085) - (92,924) (190,520)  (306,529)
Impairment - - (24,630) - (24,630)
Exchange realignment 1,289 - 2,415 24,630 28,334
At 31 December 2019 71,085 - 213,984 1,698,677 1,983,746
At 31 December 2019:
Cost 172,063 24,056 452,914 2,114,492 2,763,525
Accumulated amortisation
and impairment (100,978) (24,056)  (238,930) (415,815)  (779,779)
Net carrying amount 71,085 - 213,984 1,698,677 1,983,746

For the financial year ended 31 December 2020, an impairment of US$16,369 (2019: US$24,630) was
recognised for the patents and licences and software with a carrying amount before provision of
US$16,369 (2019: US$24,630) because the business of the internet media services had been loss-making

in recent years.
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15.

16.

INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE

Share of net assets

2020

Uss$

1 January
2019
Us$

2019
Uss

Particulars of the joint venture which is held by the Company is as follows:

Particulars
of issued

Name shares held

Musashino Gobyo K.K.
(“Musashino Gobyo”)

Ordinary
shares

Place of
incorporation

Japan

Percentage of

ownership
interest

50.0

Principal
activities
Provision of
supporting
services for
graveyard

The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of losses of Musashino Gobyo K.K. because the
accumulated share of losses of the joint venture exceeded the Group's interest in the joint venture and the
Group has no obligation to take up further losses. The Group's unrecognised share of profits of this joint
venture for the current year and cumulatively unrecognised share of losses amounted to US$146,655
(2019: losses of US$523,337) and US$810,995 (2019: US$957,650), respectively.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Share of net (liabilities)/assets
Goodwill on acquisition

1 January

2020 2019 2019
uUss$ uUss$ US$
(63,356) 199,798 211,334
346,473 327,402 323,387
283,117 527,200 534,721

Particulars of the principal associates which are held by the Company are as follows:

Particulars
of issued Place of
Name shares held incorporation
ARUKI Co. Ltd. Ordinary Japan
shares
Held through Aruki.Co. Ltd:
BARC Co. Ltd. Ordinary Japan
shares
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16. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of the Group's associates that is not
individually material:

1 January
2020 2019 2019
USs$ USs$ USs$
Share of the associates' (loss)/profit for the
year (219,476) 77,470 66,636
Share of the associates' other comprehensive
income 22,197 6,704 8,286
Share of the associates' total comprehensive
(loss)/income (197,279) 84,174 74,922
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's
investments in associates 283,117 527,200 534,721
17. EQUITY INVESTMENT AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
1 January
2020 2019 2019
USss$ USs$ USss$
Equity investment at fair value through profit or
loss
Listed equity investment, at fair value
Ipet Holdings, Inc. 9,954,946 8,599,580 7,384,366

The above equity investment at 31 December 2020 was classified as equity investment at fair value
through profit or loss as the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

The fair value information related to FVTPL — equity instrument is disclosed in note 38.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group's listed equity investments with a carrying value of US$9,954,946
(2019: US$8,599,580) were pledged as security for the Group's bank loans, as further detailed in note 26 to
the financial statements.

18. INVENTORIES

1 January

2020 2019 2019

uUss$ uUss$ US$

Raw materials 200,468 123,203 34,239
Finished goods 1,760,388 957,633 1,279,228

1,960,856 1,080,836 1,313,467
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT ASSETS
1 January
2020 2019 2019
Uss$ Uss$ Us$
Trade receivables 7,060,380 6,838,143 5,285,859
Impairment losses (95,837) (145,550) (13,419)

6,964,543 6,692,593 5,272,440
Contract assets# 698,571 - -

7,663,114 6,692,593 5,272,440

# Contract assets relate to revenue earned from ongoing advisory services. As such, the balance varies
and depends on the number of ongoing advisory services at the end of the year. The expected credit
losses of contract assets as at 31 December 2020 were considered to be minimal. The expected
timing of recovery or settlement for contract assets as at 31 December 2020 is within one year.

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, except for new customers, where
payment in advance is normally required. The credit period is generally one month. Each customer has a
maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that
the Group's trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its
trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)
The movements in provision of impairment of trade receivables are as follows:
1 January
2020 2019 2019
uUss$ uss$ Uss
At 1 January 145,550 13,419 9,691
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment (Note 6) (40,202) 220,019 104,897
Amounts written off as uncollectible (9,511) (87,888) (101,169)
At 31 December 95,837 145,550 13,419

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected
credit losses. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments
with similar loss patterns (i.e., customer type and rating). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
Generally, trade receivables are written off if uncollectable for more than one year and are not subject to
enforcement activity.

As at 31 December 2020

Past due
Less than 1to3 Over 3
Current 1 month months months Total
Expected credit loss rate 0.13% 0.21% 1.52% 28.29% 1.36%

Trade receivables (US$) 5,336,258 1,074,949 363,991 285,182 7,060,380
Expected credit losses
(US$) 7,118 2,247 5,515 80,957 95,837

As at 31 December 2019

Past due
Less than 1to3 Over 3
Current 1 month months months Total
Expected credit loss rate 0.04% 0.04% 8.00% 52.49% 2.13%

Trade receivables (US$) 5,597,507 842,640 147,748 250,248 6,838,143
Expected credit losses
(US$) 2,008 375 11,817 131,350 145,550
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)
As at 1 January 2019
Past due
Less than 1to3 Over 3
Current 1 month months months Total
Expected credit loss rate 0.06% 0.17% 0.61% 5.35% 0.25%
Trade receivables (US$) 4,262,821 764,866 84,742 171,430 5,285,859
Expected credit losses
(US$) 2,445 1,282 517 9,175 13,419
20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
1 January
2020 2019 2019
Uss$ USs$ uUs$
Prepayments 1,012,243 493,079 476,097
Deposits and other receivables 2,995,384 2,510,320 2,290,584
4,007,627 3,003,399 2,766,681
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
classified as non-current assets (1,170,597) (870,495) (988,661)
Current portion 2,837,030 2,132,904 1,778,020
The carrying amount other receivables approximate fair value at 31 December 2020 and 2019. Their
recoverability was assessed with reference to the credit status of the debtors, and the expected credit
losses as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 were considered to be minimal.
21. CASH AND BANK BALANCES
1 January
2020 2019 2019
Uss uss USss$
Cash and bank balances 9,763,255 8,346,894 7,811,675
Time deposits 143,450 147,987 -
9,906,705 8,494,881 7,811,675
Less: Pledged time deposits (Note a) (143,450) (147,987) -
Cash and cash equivalents 9,763,255 8,346,894 7,811,675
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21.

22.

23.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES (continued)

Notes:

(@) At 31 December 2020, the Group’s time deposits of US$143,450 (2019: US$147,987) were pledged
to secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group (Note 26).

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of the Group denominated in RMB
amounted to US$525,353 (2019: US$319,962). The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

TRADE PAYABLES

2020 2019 1 January 2019
US$ uss Us$
Trade payables 2,012,490 1,654,769 1,491,761

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2020 2019 1 January 2019
uUss$ UsS$ Uss
Contract liabilities (Note a) 7,563 365,871 108,912
Other payables (Note b) 4,206,704 4,878,809 4,202,081
Accruals (Note b) 5,084,329 3,806,609 3,109,765
Provisions (Note c) 579,642 381,791 445,239
9,878,238 9,433,080 7,757,085

Other payables and accruals
classified as non-current liabilities (664,467) (390,273) (537,108)
Current portion 9,213,771 9,042,807 7,219,977

Notes:

(@) Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to deliver advisory services. The changes in
contract liabilities mainly vary and depend on the number of short-term advances received from
customers at the end of the year.

(b) Other payables and accruals are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of one month.

282/341



EDINETOOOO
ODOo00oDOo0oDoooooo0boogOooo(esr220)
oOoooooooooood

YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Notes to Combined Financial Statements
For the financial years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020

23.

24.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continued)

Notes (continued):

(c) Provisions pertain to the estimated costs of restoring the Group’s leased assets, expected to be
utilized at the end of the respective lease terms. Movement in the provisions as at 31 December is as

follows:
2020 2019
Uss$ Uss$
At 1 January 381,791 445,239
Additions 179,112 -
Disposal of subsidiaries (14) (8,972)
Utilisation - (60,242)
Exchange realignment 18,753 5,766
31 December 579,642 381,791
OTHER LIABILITIES
1 January
2020 2019 2019
Uss$ USss$ Uss$
Put option liabilities from business combination
(Note a) 5,198,955 6,444,150 6,023,850
Put option liabilities from share allotment
(Note b) 921,321 - -

6,120,276 6,444,150 6,023,850

Other liabilities classified as non-current

liabilities (921,321) - (2,913,300)
Current portion 5,198,955 6,444,150 3,110,550
Note:

€) Pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement of Solidiance Group (further detailed in Note 25), YCP
Holdings Limited granted Put Options which entities Ex- Solidiance Shareholders to sell the Issued
Shares to YCP Holdings Limited at the exercise price of US$5 per share after Share Split. The put
option liabilities are initially recognised at the present value of the redemption amount and
subsequently remeasured at amortised cost.

283/341



EDINETOOOO
ODOo00oDOo0oDoooooo0boogOooo(esr220)

0o0o000ooooood
YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Notes to Combined Financial Statements
For the financial years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020

24. OTHER LIABILITIES (continued)

Note:

Movements of carrying amounts of put option liabilities during the year are as follows:

2020 2019

uss Us$

At 1 January 6,444,150 6,023,850

Derecognition of Put Options (Note 31b) (1,105,125) -

Exercise of Put Options (Note 31b) (344,295) -

Interest expense (Note 8) 204,225 420,300
Liability component classified as non-current

portion at 31 December 5,198,955 6,444,150

(b) On 13 November 2020, YCP Holdings Limited entered into share subscription agreements
("Subscription Agreements") with independent third parties and certain directors of the Company (the
"Subscribers") to allot 234,000 ordinary shares at US$5 per share. The purpose of the allotment is to
provide additional working capital for YCP Holdings Limited. Pursuant to the Subscription
Agreements dated on 13 November 2020 ("Subscription Date"), the Subscribers are entitled to a
conditional right which allows them to request YCP Holdings Limited to acquire the subscribed shares
at US$5 per share, exercisable 2 years from the Subscription Date.

The fair value of the liability component was estimated at US$894,625 at Subscription Date using an
equivalent market interest rate for a similar loan. The residual amount is assigned as the equity
component and is included in the shareholders equity.

The put option liabilities are initially recognised at the present value of the redemption amount and
subsequently remeasured at amortised cost.

The total subscription amount have been split into liability and equity component as follows:

2020

US$
Nominal value of ordinary shares issued 1,170,000
Equity component at Subscription Date (275,375)
Liability component at Subscription Date 894,625
Interest expense (Note 8) 11,214
Exchange realignment 15,482
Liability component classified as non-current

portion at 31 December 921,321
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25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

On 11 October 2018 ("Acquisition Date"), YCP Holdings Limited entered into a sales and purchase
agreement ("Acquisition Agreement") to acquire 100% equity interest in the Solidiance Group from third
parties ("Ex-Solidiance Shareholders").

Pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement, the total purchase consideration was settled in cash and issuance
of 467 shares (equivalent to 1,401,000 shares after Share Split) of YCP Holdings Limited (the "Issued
Shares"). Apart from that, YCP Holdings Limited also granted (i) "Call Options" which entitled it to purchase
the Issued Shares, from Ex-Solidiance Shareholders at the exercise price of HK$0.0003 per share after
Share Split, if Solidiance Group fails to meet the designated earnout conditions; and (ii) "Put Options" which
entitled Ex-Solidiance Shareholders to sell the Issued Shares to YCP Holdings Limited at the exercise price
of US$5 per share after Share Split. In the instance when the designated earnout conditions were not met
by Solidiance Group, the number of Put Options that are exercisable by Ex-Solidiance Shareholders are
limited to the number of Issued Shares that were not exercised by YCP Holdings Limited under the Call
Options.

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the Call Options and Put Options granted at the Acquisition
Date are as follows:

Maximum
Exercise price per number of
share after Share options

Split exercisable

Exercise period

Call Options

Within ninety days after the first anniversary of the

Acquisition Date HK$0.0003 233
Within ninety days after the second anniversary of the

Acquisition Date HK$0.0003 234

Put Options — earnout conditions were met by

Solidiance Group

From the first anniversary of the Acquisition Date to the

day immediately preceding the second anniversary of

the Acquisition Date (both days inclusive) US$5 233
From the second anniversary of the Acquisition Date to

the day immediately preceding the third anniversary of

the Acquisition Date (both days inclusive) US$5 467

Put Options — earnout conditions were not met by
Solidiance Group
Ninety days after the first anniversary of the Acquisition

Date US$5 Note 1
Ninety days after the second anniversary of the
Acquisition Date US$5 Note 2

Note 1: Lower of 233 options and the number of options that were not exercised by YCP Holdings Limited
under the Call Options.

Note 2: Lower of 467 options and the number of options that were not exercised by YCP Holdings Limited
under the Call Options.
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25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Movements of carrying amounts of Call Options during the year are as follows:
2020 2019
Uss$ Uss$
At 1 January 1,117,217 2,110,175
Exercise of Call Options (note 31b) (1,135,986) -
Derecognition of Call Options (Note a) - (1,093,151)
Fair value gain 18,769 100,193
At 31 December - 1,117,217

These Call Options are measured at fair value through profit or loss. Changes in the fair value of
derivatives amounting to US$18,769 were credited (2019: US$100,193) to profit or loss during the year.

Note:

(@) On 31 December 2019, YCP Holdings Limited entered into an amendment agreement with the Ex-
Solidiance Shareholders ("Amendment Agreement") to (a) mutually acknowledge and confirm that
Solidiance Group failed to meet the first year earnout conditions whereby giving YCP Holdings
Limited the right to exercise 78 Call Options; (b) irrevocably and unconditionally waive YCP Holdings
Limited's right to exercise the remaining 389 Call Options and to allow the Ex-Solidiance
Shareholders to retain such remaining 389 Put Options irrespective of whether Solidiance Group can
achieve the second year earn out conditions; (c) agree to take into consideration of the Share Split
(Note 31(a)) in dealing with and effecting all rights, obligations and liabilities imposed under the Call
Option and Put Option, thereby revising the option entitlement from 1 share per option to 3,000
shares per option; and (d) terminate and cancel the charge over YCP Holdings Limited's equity
investment at fair value through profit or loss, in replacement one of the directors of YCP Holdings
Limited provides personal guarantee as the security in relation to the Put Option.

In 2019, as a result of the Amendment Agreement, the derivative financial asset in relation to the Call
Options waived were derecognised. Accordingly, the Group recorded a loss of US$1,093,151 to
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

At 31 December 2020, the Group had no (2019: 78) Call Options and 366 (2019: 389) Put Options
outstanding, which represented the maximum number of options exercisable by YCP Holdings
Limited subject to the terms and conditions stipulated in the Acquisition Agreement and Amendment
Agreement.
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26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
Effective Effective Effective
annual annual annual
interest interest interest 1 January
rate (%) Maturity 2020 rate (%) Maturity 2019 rate (%) Maturity 2019
Uss$ Uss$ Uss$
Current
Bank On On On
overdrafts 5.0-6.5 demand 84,915 5.0-6.5 demand 201,719 9.5 demand 358,467
Bank
borrowings 0.5-25 2021 3,504,840 0.7-25 2020 2,758,348 0.7-25 2019 1,602,705
Loans from

third parties 6.0 2021 482,998 6.0 2020 1,825,650 6.0-7.0 2019 3,475,385

4,072,753 4,785,717 5,436,557

Non-current

Bank 2023 -

borrowings 05-25 2030 9,664,254 0.7-25 2025 9,321,836 0.7-25 2025 4,358,197
Loans from

third parties 6.0 2023 965,997 6.0 2023 1,369,238 6.0-7.0 2023 4,975,385

10,630,251 10,691,074 9,333,582

14,703,004 15,476,791 14,770,139
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26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

The Group's interest-bearing borrowings are unsecured, interest-bearing at between 0.5% to 6.5% (2019:
0.7% to 6.5%) per annum, repayable in 2021 - 2030 (2019: 2020 - 2025).

At the end of the reporting period, certain of the Group's bank loans and other borrowings were secured by:

(a) the pledge of the Group's equity investment at fair value through profit or loss of US$9,954,946 (2019:
US$8,599,580) (Note 17) for a bank borrowing of US$5,100,464 (2019: US$6,024,646);

(b) the pledge of shares of certain subsidiaries of the Company for bank borrowings and a loan from third
party of US$2,779,984 (2019: US$3,194,888);

(c) the personal guarantees by certain shareholders for bank borrowings, a loan from third party and
overdraft facility of US$9,423,796 (2019: US$3,194,888); and

(d) the pledge of time deposits of US$143,450 (2019: US$147,987) for bank overdraft facilities of
US$84,915 (2019: US$201,719) (Note 21).

A reconciliation of movement of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities is disclosed in Note
35 to the financial statements.
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27. LEASE LIABILITIES
The carrying amounts of the Group's lease liabilities are as follows:
2020 2019 1 January 2019
Present Present Present
value of value of value of
Minimum minimum Minimum minimum Minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments payments payments
US$ USs$ US$ USs$ US$ UsS$
Amounts payable:
Within one year 3,131,106 3,066,861 2,834,391 2,755,423 3,021,846 2,908,561
In the second to fifth
years, inclusive 1,604,344 1,568,994 2,093,030 2,057,045 2,451,564 2,336,561
After five years 236,343 228,997 18,257 18,207 - -
Total minimum lease
payments 4.971,793 4,864,852 4,945,678 4,830,675 5,473,410 5,245,122
Future finance charges (106,941) (115,003) (228,288)
Total net lease payables 4,864,852 4,830,675 5,245,122
Portion classified as
current liabilities (3,066,861) (2,755,423) (2,908,561)
Non-current portion 1,797,991 2,075,252 2,336,561
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27. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)
Movements of carrying amounts of lease liabilities during the year are as follows:
2020 2019
USs$ USH
At 1 January 4,830,675 5,245,122
Additions 3,645,562 2,653,846
Acquisitions through subsidiaries and businesses
(Note 33) 1,769,989 -
Termination of leases (862,057) (39,622)
Disposal of subsidiaries and businesses
(Note 34) - (221,340)
Accretion of interest 147,840 113,785
Payments (3,943,982) (2,909,061)
Covid-19-related rent concessions from lessors (791,495) -
Exchange realignment 68,320 (12,055)
At 31 December 4,864,852 4,830,675
The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as follows:
2020 2019
uUss$ Uss
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 8) 147,840 113,785
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets (Note 6) 4,580,241 2,794,323
Expenses relating to short-term leases (Note 6) 263,090 373,199
(Gain)/loss on termination of leases (Note 6) (31,142) 2,716
Covid-19-related rent concessions from lessors (791,495) -
Impairment of right-of-use assets 63,538 -
Total amount recognised in profit or loss 4,232,072 3,284,023

The Company had total cash outflows for leases of US$4,207,072 (2019: US$3,282,260). The Company
also had non-cash additions of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of US$3,645,562 (2019:
US$2,653,846).

As disclosed in note 2.2 to the financial statements, the Group has early adopted the amendment to IFRS

16 and applied the practical expedient to all eligible rent concessions granted by the lessors for leases of
certain plant and equipment during the year 31 December 2020.
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28. DUE TO A DIRECTOR

The amount due to a director was unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

29. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities

Fair value
adjustments
Accelerated arising from
tax acquisition of Right-of-use
depreciation subsidiaries assets
Uss$ Uss$ US$
At 1 January 2019 19,049 316,976 1,045,727

Disposal of subsidiaries

and businesses

(Note 34) (2,402) - (26,791)
Deferred tax charged/

(credited) to profit or

loss during the year

(Note 10) 7,038 (32,388) (171,370)
Exchange realignment 196 4,187 4,261

Others Total
US$ Uss$

47,031 1,428,783

(2,935)  (32,128)

59,665  (137,055)
317 8,961

Gross deferred tax

liabilities at

31 December 2019

and 1 January 2020 23,881 288,775 851,827
Acquisition of

subsidiaries and

businesses

(Note 34) - - -
Deferred tax credited to

profit or loss during

the year (Note 10) (22,131) (31,657) (314,557)
Exchange realignment 552 (8,747) 39,602

104,078 1,268,561

24,185 24,185

(38,506)  (406,851)
4,831 36,238

Gross deferred tax
liabilities at
31 December 2020 2,302 248,371 576,872

94,588 922,133
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29. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax assets

Defined Provision
benefit and other

liabilities Tax losses liabilities
Uss Uss US$

At 1 January 2019

Deferred tax charged to
profit or loss during the
year (Note 10) (200,463) (387,342)

Exchange realignment - 5,009 10,994

384,169 741,958

Lease
liabilities Total
US$ Us$

1,060,600 2,186,727

(181,308) (769,113)
805 16,808

Gross deferred tax assets
at 31 December 2019
and 1 January 2020

Acquisition of subsidiaries
and businesses (Note
33) - - 20,061

Deferred tax credited/

(charged) to profit or
loss during the year
(Note 10) 20,323 313,506 360,959

Deferred tax credited to
other comprehensive
income during the year
(Note 30) 1,428 - -

Exchange realignment 467 20,050 32,299

188,715 365,610

880,097 1,434,422

- 20,061

(335,093) 359,695

- 1,428
39,715 92,531

Gross deferred tax assets
at 31 December 2020 22,218 522,271 778,929

584,719 1,908,137

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities within individual subsidiaries have
been offset in the statement of financial position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances

of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

2020
uss
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the
combined statement of financial position 1,237,353
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the
combined statement of financial position (251,349)

1 January
2019 2019
US$ US$

559,497 1,104,827

(393,636)  (346,883)

986,004

165,861 757,944
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29. DEFERRED TAX (continued)
Deferred tax assets (continued)
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:
1 January
2020 2019 2019
uss uss uss
Tax losses 3,087,189 4,525,691 1,947,044

The Group has unrecognised tax losses of US$2,002,057 (2019: US$2,375,285) that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The
Group also has unrecognised tax losses of US$1,085,132 (2019: US$2,150,406) that will expire in one to
ten years for offsetting against future taxable of the companies in which the losses arose.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they have arisen in
subsidiaries that is not considered probable that taxable profits will be available against which the tax

losses can be utilised.

30. DEFINED BENEFIT LIABILITIES

The Group recognised employment benefit liabilities for all its qualifying employees pursuant to Indonesia
Labour Law No. 13/2003. The provision for employment benefits is based on the calculation by an
independent actuary, PT Sigma Prima Solusindo, using the projected unit credit actuarial valuation method.

The movements in the defined benefit liabilities as follows:

At 1 January

Service cost

Interest expense

Actuarial changes arising from:

- changes in demographic assumptions
- changes in financial assumptions
Exchange realignment

At 31 December

2020
uss$

87,972
4,407

(24,367)
30,857
2,123

100,992
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30. DEFINED BENEFIT LIABILITIES (continued)

The amounts recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive income in relation to the defined benefit
expense are as follows:

Note 2020
uUss$
Defined benefit expense charged to profit or loss
Service cost 87,972
Interest expense 4,407
92,379
Deferred tax effect 29 (20,323)
Total amount recognised in profit or loss, net of tax 72,056
Remeasurement losses/(gains) in other comprehensive income
Actuarial changes arising from:
- changes in demographic assumptions (24,367)
- changes in financial assumptions 30,857
Deferred tax effect 29 (1,428)
Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income,
net of tax 5,062

The principal actuarial assumptions used as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2020
Discount rate (%) 7.04
Retirement age (years old) 56

Expected rate of salary increases (%) 10
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30. DEFINED BENEFIT LIABILITIES (continued)

A guantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions as at the end of the reporting period is shown

below:
2020
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) in
(decrease) in defined benefit
rate obligation
% Uss$
Discount rate 1/(1) (18,663)/23,467
Future salary increase 1/(1) 22,533/(18,363)

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined based on a method that extrapolates the impact on
defined benefit liabilities as a result of reasonable changes in key assumptions occurring at the end of the
reporting period. The sensitivity analysis is based on a change in a significant assumption, keeping all
other assumptions constant. The sensitivity analysis may not be representative of an actual change in the
defined benefit liabilities as it is unlikely that changes in assumptions would occur in isolation of one
another.

31. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein are presented in the combined statement
of changes in equity.

Exchange fluctuation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations and from the translation of financial liability designated as a
hedge of net investment in the foreign operations, as well as foreign exchange differences on monetary
items which form part of the Group’s net investments in the foreign operations.

Defined benefit reserve

Defined benefit reserve comprises the gain or loss on remeasurement of defined benefits plans of its
subsidiaries. Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains or losses, return on plan assets and any change
in the effect of the asset ceiling (excluding net interest on defined benefit liabilities are recognised
immediately in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.) Remeasurements are
recognised in retained profits and are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

Capital reserve

Capital reserves comprises of the share capital of YCP Holdings Limited.
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31. RESERVES (continued)
Capital reserve (continued)
1 January
2020 2019 2019
uUss$ Uss US$
Issued and fully paid:
16,331,276 (2019:
16,401,000) ordinary shares 744,504 500,000 500,000
A summary of movements in YCP Holdings Limited’s share capital is as follows:
Number of
shares inissue Share capital
uss$
1 January 2019 5,467 500,000
Share Split (note a) 16,395,533 -
At 31 December 2019 and 1
January 2020 16,401,000 500,000
Shares repurchase (note b) (303,724) (30,871)
New shares issue (note c) 234,000 275,375
At 31 December 2020 16,331,276 744,504

Notes:

(a) Pursuant to a written resolution of the shareholders dated 13 December 2019, every issued shares of
YCP Holdings Limited were subdivided into 3,000 shares (“Share Split”").

(b) On 9 June 2020, YCP Holdings Limited exercised its Call Option in the derivative financial asset, to
repurchase and cancel 234,865 of the Issued Shares from the Ex-Solidiance Shareholders, for a total
cash consideration of HK$78.2 (equivalent to US$10). The resulting cash consideration, derivative
financial asset and other liabilities amounting to US$10, US$1,135,986 and (US$1,105,125)
respectively were charged/(credited) to the capital reserve as set out in the combined statement of
changes in equity.

On 28 December 2020, certain Ex-Solidiance shareholders exercised its Put Option in the other
liabilities, and requested YCP Holdings Limited to repurchase and cancel 68,859 of their Issued
Shares at a total cash consideration of US$344,295.

(c) On 13 November 2020, 234,000 ordinary shares were allotted to the Subscribers (refer to note 24) at
US$5 per share, to provide additional working capital for YCP Holdings Limited. Pursuant to the
Subscription Agreement, the Subscribers are entitled to a conditional right to request YCP Holdings
Limited to repurchase the subscribed shares. As a result, the total proceeds of US$1,170,000 from
the share allotment were split into liability and equity component of US$894,625 and US$275,375
respectively.
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

YCP Holdings Limited operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group's operations.
Eligible participants of the Scheme include a director and certain employees of the Group. The Scheme
became effective on 1 October 2020 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 6
years from the date of the successful listing of YCP Holdings Limited in any recognised stock exchange
("IPO Date").

The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme during the year:

Under the Scheme, eligible participants are granted options which only vest on the conditions that (i) the
grantee remain as employee with the Group for 3 years from the IPO Date; and (ii) certain market
conditions and performance target of the Group are met. Once vested, the options remain exercisable until
6 years from the IPO Date.

Weighted average Number of
exercise price options
USS$ per share

At 1 January 2020 - -
Granted during the year 5.00 938,904

At 31 December 2020 5.00 938,904
As at 31 December 2020, no outstanding share options were exercisable.

The fair value of the share options granted during the year was US$734,108 (approximately US$0.78
each), of which the Group recognised a share option expenses of US$17,479 during the year ended 31
December 2020.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year, was estimated as at the date of grant
using a binomial model, taking into account management's best estimate for the effects of non-
transferability and exercise restrictions (including the probability of meeting market conditions attached to
the options); and terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The following table lists the
inputs to the model used:

2020
Dividend yield (%) 3.55
Expected volatility (%) 38.89
Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.46
Expected life of options (years) 6.5

Weighted average share price (US$ per share) 4.85
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The expected life of the options is based on the historical data over the past years and is not necessarily
indicative of the exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the
historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

At the end of the reporting period, YCP Holdings Limited had 938,804 share options outstanding under the
Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding share options would, under the present capital structure of
YCP Holdings Limited, result in the issue of 938,804 additional ordinary shares and additional share capital
of US$4,694,020 (before issue expenses).

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, on 1 March 2021, a total of 55,465 share options were
granted to certain employees in respect of their services to the Group in the forthcoming year. These share
options have the same vesting conditions under the Scheme.

33. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

On 31 July 2020, Lifemate Veterinary Hospital, Inc. entered into (i) a sale and purchase agreement to
acquire 100% equity interest in Ecoroguard, a company principally engaged in the operation of veterinary
hospital; and (i) a debt assignment agreement to settle certain the total debts payable to the ex-
shareholders of Ecoroguard. The total consideration for the equity interest and the debt assignment
amounted to approximately JPY189,000,000 (approximately equivalent to US$1,825,736) in the form of
cash.

On 31 January 2020, YCP Holdings Limited entered into (i) a sale and purchase agreement to acquire
100% equity interest in J-Foods, a company principally engaged in the operation of Japanese style
restaurants; and (ii) a debt assignment agreement to settle certain the total debts payable to the ex-
shareholders of J-Foods. The total consideration for the equity interest and the debt assignment amounted
to approximately JPY60,000,000 (approximately equivalent to US$553,083) in the form of cash. The
acquisition resulted in a gain on bargain purchase of US$1,590,312, which is attributable to the Group's
bargaining power and ability in negotiating the agreed terms of the transaction with the seller.

In December 2019, YCP Holdings Limited acquired a business which is involved in the production, sale and
distribution of food products, from a third party. The acquisition was made as part of the Group's strategy
to expand its food and beverage business. The purchase consideration of SGD150,000 (equivalent to
US$110,990) for the acquisition was in the form of cash.
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33. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the above acquisitions as at the dates of
acquisitions were as follows:

2020
Fair value recognised
on acquisition of

Note Ecoroguard J-Food Total
uUs$ Us$ uUs$

Property, plant and equipment 12 325,541 693,284 1,018,825
Other intangible assets 14 690 108 798
Deferred tax assets 29 20,061 - 20,061
Right-of-use assets 12 254,340 1,515,649 1,769,989
Trade receivables 63,786 16,936 80,722
Prepayments, deposits and

other receivables 153,039 1,516,184 1,669,223
Inventories 48,158 72,204 120,362
Cash and bank balances 48,452 273,470 321,922
Lease liabilities 27 (254,340)  (1,515,649) (1,769,989)
Trade payables (172,997) (134,668) (307,665)
Other payables and accruals (202,797) (294,123) (496,920)
Deferred tax liabilities 29 (24,185) - (24,185)
Total identifiable net assets at

fair value 259,748 2,143,395 2,403,143
Gain on bargain purchase 5 - (1,590,312) (1,590,312)
Goodwill on acquisitions 13 1,565,988 - 1,565,988

1,825,736 553,083 2,378,819

Cash consideration (1,825,736) (553,083) (2,378,819)
Cash and bank balances

acquired 48,452 273,470 321,922
Net cash outflow (1,777,284) (279,613) (2,056,897)
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33. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)
Note 2019
Fair value
recognised
on acquisition of Go-
Food
Uss$
Total identifiable net assets at fair value -
Goodwill on acquisition 13 110,990
110,990
Consideration, representing net cash outflow (110,990)

J-Foods contributed revenue of US$3,171,262 and loss of US$751,473; and Ecoroguard contributed
revenue of US$587,008 and profit of US$113,622 to the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020.
Had the business combinations of J-Foods and Ecoroguard taken place at the beginning of 2020, the
revenue and profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 would have been US$60,775,719
and US$6,280,076 , respectively.

Go-Food contributed revenue of US$152,525 and loss of US$9,667. Had the business combination of Go-

Food taken place at the beginning of 2019, the revenue and loss of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2019 would have been US$52,279,788 and US$1,328,087.
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34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES AND BUSINESSES
Note 2020 2019
uss Uss$
Net assets disposed of:
Property, plant and equipment 12 16,573 77,822
Right-of-use assets 12 - 216,167
Goodwill 13 - 208,532
Other intangible assets 14 142,158 13,501
Inventories 27,849 794
Trade receivables 25,464 268,962
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 72,617 223,445
Cash and bank balances 21,084 202,407
Trade payables (10,732) (290,731)
Other payables and accruals (62,935) (639,649)
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (58,539) (68,013)
Income tax payable (17,581) (19,607)
Deferred tax liabilities 29 - (32,128)
Lease liabilities 27 - (221,340)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 155,958 (59,838)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries and businesses 5,6 466,537 509,841
Satisfied by cash 622,495 450,003

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries and
businesses is as follows:

2020 2019
US$ US$
Cash consideration 622,495 450,003
Cash and bank balances disposed of (21,084) (202,407)
Cash consideration and net inflow of cash and cash
equivalents in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries and
businesses 601,411 247,596

35. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(8  Major non-cash transactions

During the year 31 December 2020, the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities of US$3,645,562 (2019: US$2,653,846) and US$3,645,562 (2019: US$2,653,846),
respectively.

301/341



EDINETOOOO

ODOo00oDOo0oDoooooo0boogOooo(esr220)

0oo0oo0ooooog
YCP Holdings (Global) Limited
Notes to Combined Financial Statements
For the financial years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020
35. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
Interest-
bearing bank
and other
borrowings
(excluding
bank
Lease liabilities overdrafts)
US$ US$
At 1 January 2019 5,245,122 14,411,672
Changes from financing cash flows (2,795,276) 749,307
New leases 2,653,846 -
Decrease arising from early termination of leases (39,622) -
Decrease arising from disposal of subsidiaries and
businesses (Note 34) (221,340) (68,013)
Interest expenses 113,785 -
Interest paid classified as operating cash flows (113,785) -
Foreign exchange movement (12,055) 182,106
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 4,830,675 15,275,072
Changes from financing cash flows (3,796,142)  (1,452,580)
New leases 3,645,562 -
Increase arising from acquisition of subsidiaries 1,769,989 -
Decrease arising from early termination of leases (862,057) -
Decrease arising from disposal of subsidiaries and
businesses (Note 34) - (58,539)
Interest expenses 147,840 -
Interest paid classified as operating cash flows (147,840) -
Covid-19-related rent concessions from lessors (791,495) -
Foreign exchange movement 68,320 854,136
At 31 December 2020 4,864,852 14,618,089

()

Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the combined statement of cash flows is as follows:

Within operating activities
Within financing activities
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263,090
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2019
US$

373,199
2,909,061
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36.

37.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had the following
material transactions with the related parties during the year 31 December 2020 and 2019:

(&8 On 13 November 2020, YCP Holdings limited allotted 25,000 ordinary shares to certain directors,
which provided US$125,000 to the Group for working capital purpose.

In January 2019, YCP Holdings Limited disposed of a subsidiary, YCP Shanghai Inc., and Rainbow
Bird Inc, to a shareholder of YCP Holdings Limited at a consideration of RMB 1 (equivalent to
approximately US$-), which was mutually agreed between the parties and resulted in a gain on

disposal of approximately US$251,000.

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties:

As disclosed in the statement of financial position, the Group had outstanding balances with a
director as at 31 December 2019, particulars of which are set out in note 28 to the financial

statements.

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

Short term employee benefits
Share option expenses

2020 2019

uUss$ uUss$
2,918,640 2,751,533
2,170 -

2,920,810 2,751,533

Further details of the directors' emoluments are included in note 9 to the financial statements.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

Financial assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss —
designated as such upon initial recognition:
Derivative financial instruments mandatorily designated as
such:

Derivative financial instruments

Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss

Loans and receivables:

Trade receivables

Financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables

Cash and bank balances
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uss uss$
1,117,217

9,954,946 8,599,580

6,964,543 6,692,593

2,995,384 2,510,320
9,906,705 8,494,881
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)
2020 2019
uss Uss$
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Trade payables 2,012,490 1,654,769
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 4,831,610 5,543,879
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 14,703,004 15,476,791
Lease liabilities 4,864,852 4,830,675
Due to a director - 301,232
Other liabilities 6,120,276 6,444,150
32,532,232 34,251,496

38. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged or settled
between knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm’s length transaction, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale.

Fair value hierarchy

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

Fair value measurements that use inputs of different hierarchy levels are categorised in its entirety in the
same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement.
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38. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

Assets and liabilities not measured at fair value

Management has assessed that the fair values of trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, cash
and bank balances, trade payables, other payables and accruals, current portion of interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings, an amount due to a director and other liabilities approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments, no material change in credit risk of
counterparty, or with floating interest rates.

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The changes in fair value as a result of the Group's non-
performance risk for interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 were
assessed to be insignificant.

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

The following table illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group's financial instruments as
at 31 December 2020:

Financial instruments measured at fair value

Fair Value measurement using

Significant Significant
Quoted pricesin  observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
Uss Uss$ Uss$ uUss$

Financial asset
Equity investment at
fair value through
profit or loss 9,954,946 - - 9,954,946
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38. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value (continued)

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group's financial instruments as
at 31 December 2019:

Fair Value measurement using

Significant Significant
Quoted pricesin  observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
uUss USs$ Uss$ USss$
Financial asset
Equity investment at
fair value through
profit or loss 8,599,580 - - 8,599,580
Derivative financial
instruments - - 1,117,217 1,117,217
8,599,580 - 1,117,217 9,716,797

Quoted prices in active markets (Level 1)
The fair value of the listed equity investment in Japan is derived from quoted prices in active markets.
Significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the valuation of derivative financial instruments
together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2019:

Valuation Significant Value Sensitivity of fair value to the
technique  unobservable input
input
Derivative Binomial Underlying US$4.77 5% increase/(decrease) in price
financial tree pricing equity price per per share would result in fair
instruments model share value increase/(decrease) by

US$55,861/USS$(55,861)
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38. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

There have been no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year (2019: Nil), and no transfer into
or out of Level 3 for financial assets (2019:Nil). The movements in fair value measurement of the financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss - designated as such upon initial recognition in Level 3 during the
year were presented in Note 25 of the combined financial statement.

Financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value, for which fair value is disclosed

Significant
Carrying observable inputs
amount Fair value (Level 2)
uss uss Us$
Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings - non-current portion
31 December 2020 10,630,251 11,087,456 11,087,456
31 December 2019 10,691,074 11,247,476 11,247,476
1 January 2019 9,333,582 9,771,525 9,771,525

Determination of fair value

The fair values as disclosed in the table above are estimated by discounting expected future cash flows at
the market incremental lending rate.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, lease
liabilities, an amount due to a director and other liabilities. The main purpose of these financial instruments
is to raise finance for the Group's operations. The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities
such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk,
foreign currency risk and equity price risk. The directors review and agree policies for managing each of
these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rate risks relates primarily to the Group's
interest-bearing bank borrowings with floating interest rates. The effective interest rates and terms of
repayment of the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of the Group are disclosed in Note 26 to the
financial statements. Interest rate risk is managed on an ongoing basis with the primary objective of
limiting the extent to which net interest expense could be affected by adverse movements in interest rates.

Assuming the bank borrowings and other outstanding at the end of the reporting period were outstanding
for the whole year, a 100 basis point increase/decrease in interest rates would decrease/increase the
Group's profit before tax for the current year by approximately US$147,030 (2019: US$154,768). In the
opinion of the directors, the sensitivity to the interest rate used above is considered reasonable with the
other variables held constant.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a loss
to the Group. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade and other receivables. For
other financial assets (mainly cash at banks), the Group minimises credit risk by dealing exclusively with
high credit rating counterparties.

The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties. The Group performs
ongoing credit evaluation of its counterparties’ financial condition and generally do not require a collateral.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period.

The Group has determined the default event on a financial asset to be when internal and/or external

information indicates that the financial asset is unlikely to be received or when there is significant difficulty
of the counterparty.
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39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

To minimise credit risk, the Group has developed and maintained the Group’s credit risk gradings to
categorise exposures according to their degree of risk of default. The credit rating information is supplied
by publicly available financial information and the Group’s own trading records to rate its major customers
and other debtors. The Group considers available reasonable and supportive forward-looking information
which includes the following indicators:

- Internal credit rating
- Actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant change to the debtor's ability to meet its obligations

The Group determined that its financial assets are credit-impaired when:

- There is significant difficulty of the debtor
- A breach of contract, such as a default or past due event
- Itis becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation

The Group categorises a receivable for potential write-off when there is evidence indicating that the debtor
is in severe financial difficulty and the debtor has no realistic prospect of recovery.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group's
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 December 2020. The amounts presented
are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
US$ US$ US$ US$ US$
As at 31 December 2020
Trade receivables* - - - 7,060,380 7,060,380
Contract assets* - - - 698,571 698,571
Financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits
and other receivables
- Normal** 2,995,384 - - — 2,995,384
Cash and bank balances 9,906,705 - - — 9,906,705

12,902,089 - — 7,758,951 20,661,040
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
US$ US$ US$ US$ US$
As at 31 December 2019
Trade receivables* - - - 6,838,143 6,838,143
Financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits
and other receivables
- Normal** 2,510,320 - - - 2,510,320
Cash and bank balances 8,494,881 - - — 8,494,881

11,005,201 -

6,838,143 17,843,344

* For trade receivables and contract assets to which the Group applies the simplified approach for

impairment, information is disclosed in Note 19 to the financial statements.

** The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables is
considered to be "normal" when they are not past due and there is no information indicating that the
financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit
quality of the financial assets is considered to be "doubtful”.

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group's policy that all
customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables and
contract assets are disclosed in Note 19 to the financial statements.
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For the financial years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool
considers the maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets and projected cash flows from
operations. The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility.

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

Within 1to5 Over
Ondemand 1 year years 5 years Total
2020 USH] UsS$ Uss$ Uss$ Us$
Trade payables - 2,012,490 - - 2,012,490

Financial liabilities included

in other payables and

accruals — 4,831,610 - — 4,831,610
Interest-bearing bank and

other borrowings

(excluding lease

liabilities) 84,915 4,305,903 9,856,994 1,230,462 15,478,274
Lease liabilities — 3,131,106 1,840,687 — 4,971,793
Other liabilities — 5,198,955 921,321 - 6,120,276

84,915 19,480,064 12,619,002 1,230,462 33,414,443

Within lto5 Over
Ondemand 1 year years 5 years Total

2019 UsS$ US$ UsS$ UsS$ Uss$
Trade payables — 1,654,769 - — 1,654,769
Financial liabilities included

in other payables and

accruals — 5,535,397 8,482 — 5,543,879
Due to a director - 301,232 - - 301,232
Interest-bearing bank and

other borrowings

(excluding lease

liabilities) 201,719 4,892,108 11,125,916 121,560 16,341,303
Lease liabilities - 2,834,391 2,093,030 18,257 4,945,678
Other liabilities - 6,444,150 - - 6,444,150

201,719 21,662,047 13,227,428 139,817 35,231,011
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in foreign currency exchange rates relates primarily to the
Group's operating activities to the extent that revenue or expenses denominated in a currency that is
different from the functional currency of the relevant subsidiaries of the Group. The Group has no
significant foreign currency risk because the transaction currencies are mainly denominated in the
respective local currency of the operating subsidiaries, principally the JPY, SGD, HK$ and RMB which are
translated and combined to the Group's combined financial statement in US$.

The directors are of the view that the Group's operating cash flows and liquidity are not subject to
significant foreign exchange rate risks and therefore no hedging arrangements were made. However, the
Group will review and monitor the relevant foreign exchange exposure from time to time based on its
business development requirements and may enter into foreign exchange hedging arrangements when
appropriate.

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities decrease as a result of changes in the
levels of equity indices and the values of individual securities. The Group is exposed to equity price risk
arising from individual listed equity investments classified as equity investment at fair value through profit or
loss (Note 17) as at 31 December 2020.

The Group's listed investment is listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange and are valued at quoted market
prices at the end of the reporting period.

The market equity index for the Tokyo Stock Exchange, at the close of business of the nearest trading day
in the year to the end of the reporting period, and the respective highest and lowest points during the year
were as follows:

2020 High/low 2019 High/low
uss uss uss USs$

Nikkei index 27,444 27,603/16,358 23,657 24,066/19,562
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Equity price risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 5% change in the fair values of the equity
investments, with all other variables held constant and before any impact on tax, based on their carrying
amounts at the end of the reporting period. For the purpose of this analysis, for the listed equity
investments designated at fair value through profit or loss, the impact is deemed to be on the profit before

tax.
Carrying
amount of
equity Changes in
investment profit before tax
uss uss
2020
Equity investment in Japan
Equity investment at fair value through profit or loss
(Note 17) 9,954,946 497,747
2019
Equity investment in Japan
Equity investment at fair value through profit or loss
(Note 17) 8,599,580 429,979

40. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise
shareholders' value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may return capital to shareholders, issue
new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing capital during the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

The Group monitors capital by ensuring that it maintain a positive net assets value. Net assets attributable
to owners of the parent represent share capital, exchange fluctuation reserve and retained profits. The net
assets value attributable to owners of the parent at 31 December 2020 and 2019 were as follows:

2020 2019
US$ US$
Reserves 14,987,118 8,445,619

Equity attributable to owners of the parent 14,987,118 8,445,619
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41.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

(@)

Subsequent to the reporting period, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement to
acquire the remaining 50% equity interest in Musashino Gobyo, a company principally engaged in
the supporting service for graveyard. The total consideration for the equity interest amounted to
JPY16,000,000 (approximately equivalent to US$154,085) was prepaid to the ex-shareholder in
December 2020, recognised as prepayments in the combined statement of financial position.
Subsequent to the acquisition of the remaining 50% equity interest, the joint venture investment in
Musashino Gobyo will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group thereafter. The Group is in
the process of assessing the impact of the acquisition and it is not practicable to disclose further

details about the acquisition.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the above acquisition as at the date of

acquisition were as follows:

Property, plant and equipment

Deferred tax assets

Right-of-use assets

Trade receivables

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Cash and bank balances

Lease liabilities

Trade payables

Other payables and accruals

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

Total identifiable net assets at fair value
Goodwill on acquisitions

Satisfied by cash
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32,461
292,480
49,920
48,530
13,934
89,482
(49,920)
(4,237)
(215,996)
(1,897,146)

(1,640,492)
1,794,577

154,085
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41.

42.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (continued)

(b)

Subsequent to the reporting period, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement to
acquire the equity interest in Sapporo Midorigaoka Veterinary Hospital, a company principally

engaged in the operation of veterinary hospital.

The total consideration for the equity interest

amounted to JPY127,000,000 (approximately equivalent to US$1,205,163). The Group is in the
process of assessing the impact of the acquisition and it is not practicable to disclose further details

about the acquisition.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the above acquisition as at the date of

acquisition were as follows:

Property, plant and equipment

Other intangible assets

Deferred tax assets

Right-of-use assets

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Inventories

Lease liabilities

Other payables and accruals

Total identifiable net assets at fair value
Goodwill on acquisitions

Satisfied by cash

APPROVAL OF THE COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Us$

49,244
242,124
202,205
542,843
113,507

41,899

(542,843)
(22,754)

626,225
578,938

1,205,163

The combined financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 19
October 2021.
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YCP Holdings (Global) Limited

Independent auditor's report
For the financial years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020

Report on the Combined Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the accompanying combined financial statements of YCP Holdings (Global) Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), which comprise the combined statements of financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2019 and 2020, the combined statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the combined statement of changes in equity and combined statement of cash flows of the
Group for each of the financial years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020 and notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying combined financial statements of the Group are properly drawn up in accordance
with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) (SFRS(l)) and International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) so as to give a true and fair view of the financial positions of the Group as at 31 December 2019
and 31 December 2020 and of the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for each of
the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate
Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting
Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of management and directors for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with the provisions of the Act, SFRS(I) and IFRS, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting
controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised
use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the
preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the combined financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the combined financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the combined financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the combined financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the combined financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the combined financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Restriction on Distribution and Use

This report is made solely to you as a body and for the inclusion in the Offer Document to be issued in relation to
the proposed offering of shares of the Company in connection with the Company’s listing on the Tokyo Stock
Exchange.

Ernst & Young LLP

Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants

Singapore
19 October 2021
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2021 1 2020 1
2021 6 30 2020 6 30
35,667,500 3,945 28,321,242 3,133
10,119,821 1,119 7,890,026 873
25,547,679 2,826 20,431,216 2,260
426,615 47 1,707,554 189
5,273,890 583 4,509,274 499
16,098,304 1,781 14,262,712 1,578
99,079 11 73,193 8
4,503,021 498 3,293,591 364
1,188 0 1,526 0
212,909 24 282,043 31
151,223 17 225,049 25
4,140,077 458 2,788,025 308
1,340,437 148 671,725 74
2,799,640 310 2,116,300 234
2,796,921 309 2,136,262 236
2,719 0 19,962 2
635,279 70 281,961 31
14,165 2 7,467 1
649,444 72 274,494 30
2,150,196 238 1,841,806 204
2,151,104 238 1,860,038 206
908 0 18,232 2
17.61 19.48 13.45 14.87

323/341



EDINETOOOO
ODOo00oDOo0oDoooooo0boogOooo(esr220)

OoooooooooOoog
2

2021 6 30 2020 12 31
1,164,777 129 1,409,912 156
4,417,204 489 4,764,215 527
13,918,765 1,540 11,758,830 1,301
1,757,693 194 1,545,886 171
117,729 13 283,117 31
9,503,011 1,051 9,954,946 1,101
919,110 102 1,170,597 129
1,486,880 164 1,237,353 137
33,285,169 3,682 32,124,856 3,553
2,496,824 276 1,960,856 217
6,743,736 746 6,964,543 770
1,269,974 140 698,571 77
3,336,679 369 2,837,030 314
8,803,877 974 9,906,705 1,096
22,651,090 2,505 22,367,705 2,474
2,974,943 329 2,012,490 223
8,542,059 945 9,213,771 1,019
4,985,318 551 4,072,753 450
2,517,567 278 3,066,861 339
1,285,130 142 1,500,060 166
20,305,017 2,246 19,865,935 2,197
2,346,073 259 2,501,770 277
35,631,242 3,941 34,626,626 3,830
551,136 61 664,467 73
9,371,504 1,037 10,630,251 1,176
1,946,337 215 1,797,991 199
332,089 37 251,349 28
98,403 11 100,992 11
12,299,469 1,360 13,445,050 1,487
23,331,773 2,581 21,181,576 2,343
7,141,380 790 - -
16,117,119 1,783 21,107,394 2,335
23,258,499 2,573 21,107,394 2,335
73,274 8 74,182 8
23,331,773 2,581 21,181,576 2,343
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2 (2020 1 2020 6 30
2020 1 1 4,343,625 407,572 9,021,355 13,772,552 108,672 13,881,224
(480) (45) (998) (1,523) (12) (1,535)

- - 2,136,262 2,136,262 19,962 2,116,300

- - (236) (236) ( 2 (234)

- 283,601 - 283,691 1,730 281,961

- (3 -  31) ©)  31)

- 7,467 - 7,467 - 7,467

- @ - @ - @

- 276,224 2,136,262 1,860,038 18,232 1,841,806

- ( 31) (236) (206) ( 2 (204)

10 - - 10 - 10

9 - - C 9 - C 9

2020 6 30 4,343,615 131,348 11,157,617 15,632,580 90,440 15,723,020
(480) 15) (1,234) (1,729) (10) (1,739)
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2 (2021 1 2021 6 30

5,169,320 368,043 15,575,093 5,062 21,107,394 74,182 21,181,576

2021 11 - (572) (41) @€,723) (1 (2.335) (®) (2,343)
- - - 2,796,921 - 2,796,921 2,719 2,799,640
- - - (309) - (309) ©) (310)
- - 631,652 - - 631,652 3,627 635,279
- - (¢ 70) - - (¢ 70 QY] ¢ 70
- - 14,165 - - 14,165 - 14,165
- - () - - ()] - ()
- - 645,817 2,796,921 - 2,151,104 908 2,150,196
- - ( 7)) (309) - (238) ( 0) (238)
1 - - - - 1 - 1
© - - - - © - ©
1141379 141 379 ) ) ) ) ) )
(790)  ( 790) - - - - - -
7,141,380 277,774 18,372,014 5,062 23,258,499 73,274 23,331,773
2021 6 30 1,972,059
(790)  ( 218)  ( 31) 2,032) (1) (2,573) ©) (2,581)
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2021 1 2020 1
2021 6 30 2020 6 30
4,140,077 458 2,788,025 308
1,188 0 1,526 0
191,203 21 108,037 12
- - 1,590,291 176
- - 25 0
22,868 3 - -
370,767 41 294,052 33
1,880,243 208 2,293,745 254
134,117 15 146,035 16
- - 520 0
10,568 1 9,623 1
2,950 0 - -
5,654 1 7,891 1
1,965 0 26,220 3
- - 14,657 2
212,909 24 282,043 31
151,223 17 225,049 25
6,729,642 744 4,604,105 509
389,238 43 997,469 110
571,403 63 - -
595,448 66 430,417 48
40,229 4 608,579 67
1,114,887 123 1,036,621 115
640,844 71 2,056,876 228
- - 301,232 33
5,607,367 620 2,463,311 272
1,481,154 164 784,611 87
4,126,213 456 1,678,700 186
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1,188 0 1,526 0
- - 43,861 5
98,016 11 233,551 26
275,922 31 - -
1,115,681 123 279,613 31
- - 25 0
1,488,431 165 467,802 52
1 0 - -
2,264,243 250 3,053,648 338
3,789,794 419 2,175,001 241
1,757,574 194 2,253,058 249
- - 10 0
155,271 17 207,812 23
3,438,395 380 1,582,233 175
800,613 89 371,335 41
9,763,255 1,080 8,346,894 923
302,215 33 250,543 28
8,660,427 958 8,226,102 910
8,660,427 958 8,432,162 933
- - 206,060 23
8,660,427 958 8,226,102 910
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